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INTRODUCTORY
NOTE

This is a compilation of certain court papers in criminal cases

brought by the Watergate Special Prosecutor. The cases deal with the

following subjects: 1) the break-in at the office of Dr. Lewis J.

Fielding, psychiatrist of Daniel Ellsberg; 2) the break-in at the

Democratic National Committee Headquarters in the Watergate Office

Building and the subsequent investigations of the break-in; 3) illegal

campaign practices and contributions during the 1968, 1970 and 1972

elections; and 4) attempts to improperly influence government

conduct.

Each set of court documents is preceded by a brief

summary of the major court proceedings in the case.
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THE FIELDING BREAK-IN
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United States v. John Ehrlichman, Charles Colson,
G. Gordon Liddy, Bernard Barker, Felipe DeDiego

and EuRenio Martinez

(CR 74-116, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

March 7, 1974

March 9, 1974

March 14, 1974

May 2.', 1974

June 3, 1974

June 21, 1974

June 26, 1974

July 12, 1974

Indictment filed charging the
defendants with one count of
conspiracy to violate the rights of
citizens in connection with the break-
in at Dr. Lewis Fielding's office. (Count
1) John Ehrlichman also charged with
one count of making false statements
to agents of the FBI (Count 2) and
three counts of making false
declaration to a Grand Jury or Court.
(Counts 3, 4, 5)

John Ehrlichman and Charles
Colson enter pleas of not guilty.

G. Gordon Liddy, Bernard Barker,
Felipe DeDiego and Eugenic
Martinez enter pleas of not guilty.

Indictment dismissed against Felipe DeDiego

Colson enters a plea of guilty to a
one count information charging



obstruction of justice.

Colson sentenced to a prison term of
one to three years and a fine of
$5,000.00

Case called for trial.

Verdict:

Ehrlichman found guilty as to Counts 1
through 4, not guilty as to Count 5.
Liddy, Barker and Martinez found
guilty as to Count 1.

(5)



July 22, 1974

-

July 31, 1974

Judge Gesell sets aside guilty verdict
as to Count 2 and a judgement of
acquittal is entered in its place.

Sentences :

Ehrlichman sentenced to serve a
prison term of 20 months to five
years.

Liddy sentenced to serve a prison term of
one to three years to run concurrently
with his current sentences.

Barker and Martinez placed on
supervised probation for a period of
three years.

(6)



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

) Criminal No.
)

v. ) Violation of 18 U.S.C.
) §§241, 1001, 1623

JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, CHARLES W. ) (Conspiracy Against
COLSON, G. GORDON LIDDY, ) Rights of Citizens,
BERNARD L. BARKER, FELICE DE DIEGO, ) False Statements to a
and EUGENIO R. MARTINEZ, ) Government Agency, and
) False Declarations

Defendants. ) Before a Grand Jury).

INDICTMENT

COUNT ONE

The Grand Jury charges:

1. At all times material herein up to on or about April 30,

1973, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, the DEFENDANT, was acting in the capacity

of an officer and employee of the United States Government, as

Assistant for Domestic Affairs to the President of the United

States.

- 2. At all times material herein up to on or about March 10,

1973, CHARLES W. COLSON, the DEFENDANT, was acting in the

capacity of an officer and employee of the United States

Government, as Special Counsel to the President of the United

States.

a.. or about July 20, 1971, up to on or about

December 10, 1971, G. GORDON LIDDY, the DEFENDANT, was

acting in the capacity of an officer and employee of the United

States Government, as Staff Assistant to the President of the

United States.

4. From on or about July 1, 1971 up to and including the date of

the filing of this indictment, in the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, CHARLES H. COLSON, G. GORDON LIDDY,

BERNARD L. BARKER, FELIPE DE DIEGO,
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and EUGENIO R. MARTINEZ, the DEFENDANTS, and EgiI Krogh, Jr.,

David R. Young, E. Howard Hunt, Jr., named herein as

coconspirators but not as defendants, unlawfully, willfully and

knowingly did combine, conspire, confederate and agree

together and with each other to injure, oppress, threaten, and

intimidate Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, a citizen of the United States,

in the free exercise and enjoyment of rights and privileges

secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the United

States, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

241(a).

5. It was part of the conspiracy that the conspirators

would, without legal process, probable cause, search

warrant, or other lawful authority, covertly and unlawfully

enter the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding located at 450 North

Bedford Drive, Beverly Hills, California, with intent to search for

confidential information concerning Daniel Ellsberg, thereby

injuring, oppressing, threatening, and intimidating Dr. Lewis J.

Fielding in the free exercise

and enjoyment of the right and privilege secured to him

by the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the

United States to be secure in his person, house, papers and

effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, and

that they would thereafter conceal such activities, so as

to prevent Dr. Lewis J. Fielding from securing redress

for the violation of such right and privilege. -

6. Among the means by which the conspirators would -

carry out the aforesaid conspiracy were the following:

(a) on or about September 1, 1971, the conspirators would

travel and cause others to travel to the State of California;

(b) on or about September 3, 1971, the conspirators would,

without legal process, probable cause, search warrant or

other lawful authority, covertly and unlawfully enter and

cause to be entered the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding

located in Beverly Hills, California; (c) on or about

September 3, 1971, the conspirators would unlawfully and
. .. ..



Unreasonably search and cause to be searched the said offices

(8)
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of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding; and (d) on or about September 3, 1971,

the conspirators would conduct such unlawful and

unreasonable search in a manner designed to conceal the

involvement of officials and employees of the United States

Government.

7. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and in order to

effectuate the objects thereof, the following overt acts,

among others, were committed in the District of

Columbia and elsewhere:

OVERT ACTS

1. On or about July 27, 1971, Egil Krogh, Jr. and

David R. Young sent a memorandum to JOHN D.

EHRLICHMAN which discussed a request for the

preparation of a psychiatric study on Daniel Ellsberg.

2. On or about July 28, 1971, E. Howard Hunt, Jr. sent a

memorandum to CHARLES W. COLSON entitled "Neutralization of

Ellsberg" which discussed a proposal to "obtain Ellsberg's files

from his psychiatric analyst. n

3 On or about July 30, 1971, Egil Krogh, Jr. and David R.

Young sent a memorandum to JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN which

informed EHRLICHMAN that the Central Intelligence Agency

had been "instructed . . . to do a thorough psychological

study on Daniel Ellsberg. n

4. On or about August 3, 1971, Egil Krogh, Jr. and

David R. Young sent a memorandum to CHARLES W. COLSON

which referred to the memorandum described in Overt

Act No. 2 and which stated that "we will look into" the

suggestions made by E. Howa

5. On or about August 11, 1971, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

approved a covert operation proposed by Egil Krogh, Jr. and

David R. Young to examine all the medical files still held

by Ellsberg's psychoanalyst if he were given an assurance

it is not traceable. n .

6. On or about August 23, 1971, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN
and David R. Young had a conversation in which EHRLICHMAN

(9)
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and Young discussed financing for "Special Project #1," a

planned entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding to

obtain confidential information concerning Daniel Ellsberg.

7. In late August 1971, CHARLES W. COLSON had a

telephone conversation with Egil Krogh, Jr. in which

COLSON and Krogh discussed providing money for E.

Howard Bunt, Jr. and G. GORDON LIDDY.

8. During the week of August 22, 1971, CHARLES W.

COLSON and David R. Young had a conversation in which

COLSON and Young discussed providing money for E. Howard

Hunt, Jr. and G. GORDON LIDDY and preparing a plan to

disseminate information regarding Daniel Ellsberg.

9. On or about August 26, 1971, David R. Young sent

a memorandum to JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN which referred

to "Hunt/Liddy Project ~~1" and stated that CHARLES W.

COLSON would get "the information out" on Ellsberg.

10. On or about August 27, 1971, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

sent a memorandum to CHARLES W. COLSON entitled "Hunt/

Liddy Special Project No. One" which requested COLSON to

prepare a "game plan" for the use of materials to be derived

from the "proposed undertaking by Hunt and Liddy."

11. On or about August 30, 1971, G. GORDON LIDDY

had a meeting with Egil Krogh, Jr., David R. Young, and E.

Howard Hunt, Jr. in which there was a discussion of the

means by which there would be a non-traceable

entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding.

about August 30, 1971, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

had a telephone conversation with Egil Krogh, Jr. and

David R. Young in which Krogh and Young assured

EHRLICHMAN that the planned entry into the offices of Dr.

Lewis J. Fielding would not be traceable.

13. On or about August 31, 1971, CHARLES W. COLSON had
a telephone conversation in which he arranged to obtain

(10)
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14. On or about September 1, 1971, CHARLES W. COLSON

arranged for the transfer of S5,000 from the Trust for

Agricultural Political Education in order to repay the $5,000

cash described in Overt Act No. 13.

15. On or about September 1, 1971, CHARLES W. COLSON
caused the delivery of $5,000 in cash to Egil Krogh, Jr.

16. On or about September 1, 1971, Egil Krogh, Jr.
delivered $5,000 in cash to G. GORDON LIDDY.

17. On or about September 1, 1971, G. GORDON LIDDY and

E. Howard Hunt, Jr. travelled from Washington, D. C. via

Chicago, Il inois to Los Angeles, California for the purpose of

meeting with BERNARD L. BARKER, FELIPE DE DIEGO and

EUGENIO R. MARTINEZ.

18. On or about September 3, 1971, BERNARD L. BARKER,

FELIPE DE DIEGO and EUGENIO R. MARTINEZ searched the offices

of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding located in Beverly Bills, California for the

purpose of obtaining confidential information concerning

Daniel Ellsberg.

19. On or about March 27, 1973, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

caused the removal of certain memoranda related to the

entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding from files

maintained at the White House in which such memoranda

would be kept in the ordinary course of business.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 241.)

COUNT TWO

The Grand Jury further charges: On or about May 1, 1973, in the

District of Columbia, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, the DEFENDANT, did

knowingly and willfully make false, fictitious and fraudulent

statements to agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,

Department of Justice, which Department was then

conducting an investigation into a matter within its

jurisdiction pursuant to an order of the United States District

Court for the Central District of California to investigate

whether, as

(11)
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a result of an entry conducted by White House employees _

into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding located in Beverly

Hills, California, there had been obtained information which

might taint the prosecution in the criminal case of United

States of America v. Russo (No. 9373-CD-), the trial of

which was then pending before said Court, in that he

stated that it had been over a year since he had seen

anything on the "Pentagon Papers" Investigation, and that

he had not seen any material covering the White House

investigation of the "Pentagon Papers" case for more than

a year.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.)

COUNT THREE

- The Grand Jury further
charges:

1. On or about May 14, 1973, in the District of Columbia,

JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, the DEFENDANT, having duly taken an

oath that he would testify truthfully in a proceeding

before the June 1972 Grand Jury, a Grand Jury of the United

States duly empanelled and sworn in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia, did wake false

material declarations as hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the said Grand Jury
was conducting an investigation in conjunction with

. . .

the United States Attorney's Office for the District of

Columbia, and the Federal Bureau of Investigation to

determine whether violations of 18 U.S.C. §§321, 1001, 1503,

1621, 1623, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other

statutes of the United States and of the District of Columbia,

had been committed in the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, and to identify the individual or individuals who

had committed, caused the commission of, and conspired to

commit such violations.

3. It was material to said investigation that the

Grand Jury ascertain, among other things, the identity
and

(12)
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motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of an

entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, located in

Beverly Hills, California, and related activities.

4. At the time and place alleged, JOHN D. EHRLICH!AN, the

DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before the

said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare with respect to

the aforesaid material matters alleged in paragraph 3 as

follows:

Q. Very well, sir. Now there came a time when this
operation became concerned with Dr. Ellsberg himself, is
that not correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And then there was an attempt or a decision made
to find out as much about Dr. Ellsberg as could be done, is
that correct?

Q. And even part of that investigation was going to center
on his psychological profile, his mental attitudes, his habits,
and possible motivations. Is that correct?

- A. Well, I learned about that after the fact, but that is
my understanding of the decision that was made.

Q. When you say you learned about it after the fact,
what do you mean by that, sir?

A. Well, I learned after the break-in that they were
looking for information for what they call a psychological

I was not aware of that before the fact.

Q. So before the fact you were not aware that
there was an attempt by Mr. Krogh, or persons working
under his supervision or authority, to -- there was no
attempt made by these people to ascertain information
that would be helpful in drawing out the psychological
profile if I understood what you just said. Is that right?

A. I didn't know if they made an attempt no not T

Q. Just so that the Grand Jury and we are clear on
this, prior to receiving information about the break-in, you
had no information, direct or indirect, that a psychological
profile of Dr. Ellsberg was being drawn up?

A. I can't recall hearing of a psychological profile until
after I had heard or the break-ln.

5. The underscored portions of the material
declarations



quoted in paragraph 4, made by JOHN D. EHRLIC!I'AN, the DEFENDANT,

(13)
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were material to the said investigation and, as he then
and there well knew, were false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.)

COUNT FOUR

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about May 14, 1973, in the District of

Columbia, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, the DEFENDANT, having duly

taken an oath that he would testify truthfully in a pro-

ceeding before the June 1972 Grand Jury, a Grand Jury of

the United States duly empanelled and sworn in the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia, did

make false material declarations as hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the said Grand

Jury was conducting an investigation in conjunction with

the United States Attorney's Office for the District of 0

Columbia and the Federal Bureau of Investigation to deter-

mine whether violations of 18 U.S.C. §§371, 1001, 1503,

1621, 1623, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other

statutes of the United States and of the District of

Columbia, had been committed in the District of Columbia

and elsewhere, and to identify the individual or individuals

who had committed, caused the commission of, and conspired

to commit such violations.

3. It was material to said investigation that the

Grand Jury ascertain, among other things, the identity

and motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of an

entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, located

in Beverly Hills, California, and related activities.

4. At the time and place alleged, JOHN- D. EHRLICHMAN,

the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before the



said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare with respect to

the aforesaid material matters alleged in
paragraph 3 as

follows:



9

Q. Now were you aware before this break-in, which
took place on or about September 3rd, 1971, that an effort

was going to be directed to-lards obtaining information
from Dr. Ellsberg or Dr. Ellsberg's psychiatrist?

A. Ahead of the fact? No.

5. The underscored portions of the material declara

tions quoted in paragraph 4, made by JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN,

the DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation and,

as he then and there well knew, were false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.)

COUNT FIVE

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about May 14, 1973, in the District of Columbia,

JOHN D. EHRLICH:.SUg, the DEFENDANT, having duly taken an

oath that he would testify truthfully in a proceeding before

the June 1972 Grand Jury, a Grand Jury of the United

States duly empanelled and sworn in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia, did make false

material declarations as hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the said Grand Jury was

conducting an investigation in conjunction with the United

States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia and the

Federal Bureau of Investigation to determine whether

violations of 18 U.S.C. Es371, 1001, 1503, 1621, 1623, 2511, and

22 D^C. Code 1801(b), and of other statutes of the United

States and of the District of Columbia, had been

committed in the District of Columbia and elsewhere, and

to identify the individual or individuals who had committed,

caused the commission of, and conspired to commit such

violations.

3. It was material to said investigation that the

Grand Jury ascertain, among other things, the identity

and motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of an

entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, located in

Beverly Hills, California, and related activities.

(15)
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4. At the time and place alleged, JOHN D. EHRL!CHMAN,

the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before the

said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare with respect to

the aforesaid material matters alleged in paragraph 3 as

follows:

Q. You indicate here that you did maintain a
newspaper clipping file on the Pentagon Papers case.

A. Right.

Q. But you say there were other papers in addition?

A. I think there were some others. There was a
small file and it just went out. I didn't have occasion to
look at it before it went, but it went.

Q. You mentioned a moment ago, in response to
Mr. Silbert's question, that there were some files. Did
you have a file relating to

A. No. I don't believe I kept a file.

Q. Who had a file?

A. I think Mr. Krogh had a file.

Q. Anybody else have a file?

A. I don't know.

Q. So as far as you know, prior to the break-in,
whenever that was, I think it was sometime in
September, September 3rd, the only person that had a file
that you knew of was Mr.. Krogh?

A. I believe that's right. I, of course, had a great
many other things going on. He would, from time to
time, post me on the whole Pentagon Papers matter.

This was not just Ellsberg at that time. There
were all kinds of things going on. There were lawsuits
involving the New York Times. There was a lot of activity
going on.

He would inform me from time to time of things
that would happen. But I kept no paper as I recall. I
would move paper out if any came in on this, and usually
sign it over to Krogh.

Q. And subsequent to the break-in, did you learn
that there were any files anywhere in existence?



A. I think there were a number of files both
before and after.

Q. In whose hands?

A. Well, I assume Krogh. I think that he would be the
one that I would always look to for paper work en this
with the exception of -- I do recall running across this very

bulky clipping file that we had in our
office, and why we had it I don't

know.

(16)
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But at sometime or another we
accumulated a

tremendous amount of newspaper clippings on this
case.
That was the whole Pentagon Papers
case.

Q. Any other files in the custody of anybody else
Involved in this operation?

A. Not that I know of. I would assume that Krogh
had them all.

Q. Did you ever learn that anybody had any files
before or after September
3rd.'

A. No, I don't believe so.

5. The underscored portions of the material declara

tions quoted in paragraph 4, made by JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN,
the

DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation and, as

he then and there well knew, were
false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.)

A TRUE BILL,

Leon Jaworski ~~
Special Prosecutor
Watergate Special
Prosecution
Force

(17)
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IN ~~~ UNI:D STATES DISTR}CT CO~~~ FOR DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA

.

UNITED STATES 0~~~
AMERICA

VS.

C~~~ W. C

C. C. 74~~~116

Washington D~~~ C.

June 21 1974

The above-entitled mat came on for sentencing; before
THE HONORABLE GERHARD A. C~~~, United States Di strict
Judge, at 9 :30 am.

0N BE~~~ OF ME G~~~:

WILLIAM R. Merrill, Esq.,,
Philip Bakes, Esq.,

Philip Heyman, Esq. t
Charles Breyer, E3q. y Office of th Special

ON S3~~~ QF TE DANT:

David Shapiro Esq/..,
Sidney Dickstein, E:3q. Attorneys at

JOAN 5WTIS ]3LAIR C3R
FICI COMT REPORTER

COPY
FOR

A~~~ C~~~ C " /_
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P R O C E; E D I S a 3

THE COURT; Befo we come t:> the aspect of the case scheduled far

this morning, the Court wishes > indicate the procedure to be t:> ~~~ed on

the defendant Eh rll ~~~ ~~~8 ~~~ > 1 for ~~~~~~ of bpoen duces ~~~

to the President. The Special Prosecut:>r shall?a:U, by nine thirty ~~~,

MONDAY,.x~~~ 24, file a written response to this motion. TS response

shall, among other thi, particulari the acts 

be offered v support of t}s indictment ^ tr ~~~ shall ~~~ ny of the
Presidential conversations f:>r which the defendant ~~~}^ic~~~ seeks
n:atz that ~~~ available X the Special Pr:> secut:xr - whether they

tr~~~eript w tape r:~~~. The Court will}l arrange at some later time on

Monday X hear tha; motion in open court if necessary after hearing the
response.

~~~1 right - F. Shapiro - would you and B!Mr
come £:~~~arcl?

Xr. Colson:: > there anything you wish t:> sa to the

Court before sentence is imposed?

r

~~~, COLSON: Yes, there is Your Honor. I have a

statement which I would like the Court's permission to read.

C~~~- Very well.
. COLSON; I entered my plea t:> this offense, Y3UP

' Honor, because I believed it right!1t as a matter of law and

right as a matter of conscience.



Even though I believed myself
innocent of the

(19)
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two matters for which I have been indicted.. I: ~~~ that to 8~~~ p:natbw the

next several years as a defendant would accomplish nothing. If I were

acquitted there were th:ose~~~ ~~~ t:=ld feel I had "beaten the rap's; if I had

he t~~~ ~~~~~~t o'c~~~ F:~~~ kn:nt me ~~~14 be~~~~~~ ft~~~

v~~~dlet ~~~Just. But ~~~ inMr~~~ to D#~~~ that pertod tx ~

12e would h~~~e t~~~ ~~~>n1; ln selt~~~enteri actiertt;y

lE~~~e ult~~~ vWae to s~~~~~~lf or ta ~~~oeiet.

As x ~~~e t~~~ght: back on t lffe -- ai :: gu~~~a I hwe
al~~~~~~ tZed X u~~~ eret;sr sd~~~te to 3awci3~~~ 2Zvantage, al~~~rs

atrf{n6 t;3 a btgher p~~~sce ~~~yb~~~ thts hm teen a nd~~~ iew~~~, as
EP1C B:fcr abserved,* "the man in a ean ncser grMf lzp-t

I ~~~ tSt thls p > t w~~~ MeXp b~~~~~~ a ~~~ger
purp:~~~e. I pray t~~~ it ~~~ weve the li}tfnate end~~~ :S 3ustsce ~~~d

thtt tn aeeepting r~~~spons~~~t}tt~~~r f~~~ ~ own c:>nduct and lr~~~

xerte 8:)tfia} ~~~Justtee in that th1s plet may have ~~~e Impset in
deXrring stirs ~~~ ev~~~ agad inte3Sertng ~~~fSth any ind5wSdualts

rS8bt > a fair trl~~~£*

} al:st knew that to res~~~> a defend~~~ ~~~ preelude

being ssaSlable t:> tS .5peelal Prosecutar'ts Offsco ardto tS

Ho~~~e Judicœamr C:~~~ttee. Ttse w~~~k of tho~~~e t~~~ b:xliesw

Y3ur Z.:~~~r, the successbul and Just resolutl:>n oR the matters under

lnewestigat53n by thent, It se~~~ed to lae was far ~~~re important than the

pssibility or msr eventual ~~~,~~~bllc vasltcati3n.

(20
)
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I sha}l be ~operatiDg with the Prosecutcr, bu1; that 5s nd; 1za 8t

that the Prose~t~ ha}s baEained t:ur ~ testi~r or that l;here was any quid p~

quo. ~e wa*. m1;~ T reached nly tn conc1~ion that I have a duty > teU

everythtng I >nos tbat ts relettnt tA these tasUes and a ma:cr reason rx my
plea,s>, was to

-

I went > the WESte Muse in ~~er 196g hec~e th* P~sident adred me

to. I wa5~ 3;~d t:> have bzn a~hd to ~mre tS Pr*sident of the-l}ntted State~ and

I belinared it my Xty as a c1tAen, and franEy, as a polltical PaS!t>~J % d:> st

Px three ~ a haZ yesrs I worked day and nlght~ I had lltt}e ti:lte
£s ~elr and £cr my faily, and the aggravatbn~ ~e very ertttcal. T scelived
that; I was ~1

a great per83nal DaCrtrtCE ^zZ my OQun > tNBludlng 8lving up a very
wuerative law sracti¢e.

Bureng tMtime I serered in tbe iMite >~e, I xtarew questbned a
Presldential srder - rarekr dU I westio3 the President's Judvent.

These two thlng3, ~ueationVg loyalty on the :>~ hand and a Peeling cf

se:U>-sacrfflee on the other, cau~ nne t3 lose

31$ht of 8~ very f~amental prlncip;Les. Contrary to 2~ vSew at the ttne, ane

lifh:> serves in pub11c ofRlce 13 ~t d:>irlg anyane a fascr. Hxe w she ls
prlstleged to hold that offics ln ::ub11c trust arS zne's 1syalty 3hould 3o be7~
the awn

(21)
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he seror~ tn the 1nstStutSons ~ the peopO thK ~e

~ed thet ~t ln h~

:£ k~, Ysr Elon:xr, that tr poP~ ~ge b t-hat ~ m arrog~t and

~}£-~~ed ~ who reve11ed d tS rut~s ex~tse o£ p~er, ~ is n:>t an

accurate c)~rSsat£~ and X thbc lt b I~ostant tSt tMt be re~lted - nof a:>

much perhaps fs wVsake today, aJ tat t2se ske of m u~ staniltr4~ of bvf this J~

oR thw ~d ~ brppe~~

Ac~ly.^ I ~ offn frSS4n¢d t the en~tg of the d*cis~ tbF I w~
~d t:t ~e ~ Sns and by the ~e~:~ r~p~ibillttes :S t~ man tUh ~ I wwked.

- I ande every erraru X 8votd ~Xsc exp~. I dldn't care ab~t ~ fl
the enchtlar^Sng tra~ ~ tl2e Whtlte PDuse. I sttred 8way ~ W"hln=~

~es - I rarely krave:Ued flth the PrestdentS and X trted X ~i£1 pers:>nfi

pre~ ¢overage.

But :!: tGnk t}2e~e w~ a m:are ~~le klnd ~ seZ ~de grslng out
of the fecltng that I ~ ~*ert£tc~ m~elf Sn a tw that omr eriticts d1dn't
appreciGe, t:) a &s~e th~t sshey ~d rtof ~ could nfl ~d~st;and.

I lost my perspective t:> the p:>Sat w~e I ~tt2actively l reacted to
any crsticis2n w interference wlth whal; I waa d:>1ng, :;r WhRt t~ besident was
dot~> as uS~ ~d a3 ~th~ ta be retaLiated ag~t.

As to tbe specS1c offense charged~ the President on nu~ous
3ccastans ur6ed me t:> dissentbate d~in8 tn£annation

(22)
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Maintain~ tM secrecy S there ~ters w~ *~lu~ ar£t#1 ta thelr

~cc~s. I also h~e t:t aag,~ Y3tr P~> that I had ~rSr 3t:rong perssl~

fee1tnSp abmxt t1~— X bX 3erVed zrK>t tn tte Nbrtme C:rp"} 2gnm~ >*

my frtends "~nre lctlled v Vletan". :t felt w~ 2stro~ ~ trt?~g th~ mS;ht ~t1 -

f thak :[ t~h1; ~h1; ~ the llar~ of A~1~ then tn s~tce—t> dX the President.

I ~82ed tS PresMent ~nAe over casule flgures.*

wbee tn ~ tin the B~52s t~ he had ~ered to t

ahot d~ It ~ n:d; an esy thw X :u~ tS1;hv Even th~h in tM ~19~ I

~d been persspn£tr op~ed to the psA£cy zlee4ston to tntervene b

Ytetnaxa, Fen £ wx in thc Whtt~ Muse T telt a deep ~3en.S3e s3f

rea3BamsMattl.to rx  the h~£can ~ce2~ who uere coe~tl;ezi tbre~ I trted to

brtng t2~ h3~ sSetr ~ I ~essl Your brior, tSt on reflectbn, ;x: tsid hte

done~~-t<~dF sfi~ut reS~d to the leg~ C ~ eq\#lWeNJ Sr I tM~t 1t

~uld he}p in t)~at c~e.

I have th~ght a lot *out what happened to ~e tn t2we 'Whlte

Rouse, as5d what 3ky hae happened ts~ ot~,~ and that deeply tr~1ee me

t3teause I n~ ~r ~ easy tt; 13 for even strong ~ we11 dSscip1tned men t3

:Loae thet pe~~~ctlve ~der pre~~e.

In my casee altbu$h I had studled Consti~i:anS ~ in C:>Lege - and
3~Sed lt lrx 1~ schools I rra1> onw t3ok

(24)
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tbe X refer to St b tEre WMte ~se as a usc~ wKnuce d~ent for
prep~~ ~ents sn such mEt~ as ~ellle C3~t n~natt:ans., '

I nwer :mces even r~t9, th~hjc th~ ~;hit

I wSh1; d:> ~uld tresp~#~ ~n the ConxtituasS:>n or trep~

on ~net~ ~ts under the £::~t;1tutS~. ..<

I had one rule, and tbat ~ to 8et done t~: thtch the ~ident lranXd

done~ WSle I t~* thsoc x ~ 3ervlr4; ~ beU snd £altt~ ]: 2xnf r~e thtt 3: tz ~ts

> tS ~ tSt X ~~ ~~ ~st~6 ~t~ tSt he wanXd d~ was right or ~. }Ie twad *

rtht X expeet ~re ~ mev I ~ an obliBa$tz2 to X nDre t;t h

.

I aet up > a falXl£1yb ~ PD~ =~r 111 lfhich the PurSll;an
SthM ~ a data ruO fl lUe.

Mtr FFher studled siz ye~ at; < g2At t~beea w J tsember Of the

MaX84e"u8ett8 Ebr ~ I 8pent tORrb years at n~t 3Ch~ > b~:we a 1~er ~

I believed I had a great senstttvtty t:> the rie Or L~J tO ts ~~ t~ and the

responstbUittes of DE prof~esst:an. Aa a MeEer zof the Ftte ~e st8t,

~er, t:hat sensltlvlty gtte ~ to exwdleney; ~ I adWtet:l s13 t2w pcslStici

cEchbrda that: we vleared as appeallng to ~ B4£ddle~A~ican

Constttuency and, like znany or gny colleagueae I became 9O

Xe:NCCUl)1@d Rtchard USSx3n's eleet3ra1 £:xrt~e that I emeso ~ a>

netimes 13xt sight nf the deeper yurpoBe t~ whtch we s;> Xnacl:n24

(25)
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pl~ed hb s~lect~, and th~t ~ to gov~ ~ arjd bell ~ the g:~ :£ ~ the
~ple.

> the p~ ~r I h"~ cone to ~ ~t tt £s to be

8t twd"~ ~?g, ~ ~ ti V~ t 6~£ ~ ~ p:~~ I~whic tt b Xbe wdtX ~:1,
~n8 thic a ~r ~ 3udge ~ zs the b"b fl tS ~denee ard tbe ~ee
al~e ~ then, readw each dt tbe ~t ~%~ed and er~t~ c?~ges— 3re ::~

£t opon~d bt Fran¢hffr :S the ~e 8:>~ lfbiCh is ~> ~e

1: ~e al~,Your ~^, csse bo h~ a 3uch Fea~t a~es~tan S lt~ gov~ent

~e 1;:> do~

~aczr ts ~~ J~ ~t ~,

of thQ ~J~ty,~ ~ ~ver F the e~ne :>t :R2e ~er fl

8 ~ .

Yo7Jr ~nsw*s ~ds ~ the Bench durinS; tS Xetsti£.

told ~u when I en~ed n2v p~~ Y:ur Eonars

hear~

hel~ X brSn8 tb a ~d tl2e 1~ md aEpnl:E1ng st3m$gle
~ >z~z8 ~ ~t saX2 tbF :X: shouk not;
be tndtetedo I dtd noF teel tlaF :x: s~d 1m etthe the
'Sa1;erg~;e ~ th~ Ptelding caseo

In ;arn~r ttsere ~e disevasbnx at plea t2argalnX prtw to ~
indictweU but those dtscusslons were tesmdnat44 hen I tSd ;xy t~el that
I co~ not pleacl gu~y to 5aPtSM tSt ;[ wb not gu<t o£. As t~ ~ on, tt

(26
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weighed s~r he~ily on me that llfbile I - while ~he i wasntt guilty S the ~

2tc offentes Rct thlch I wa~ Sndicted, I c:>lXl<} not reg~d tS ~ Or m r ~ tn

the White ~e " guS1t3~s. It 81~ ~2hed 3n tr that I had ien part ~ parcel of

eff~3 t:> dtweredtt I:rf ElAherg ~1 tSt th3se efrart;s had bed ath~ to 3mre

K~ded adenlsures..<

:X: had allt~ t:ald the bo2~st~ that I had b rsct at~ted t3 do 3~t

that— t3 dlsctff}it It. 21Xsterg, smd whRe thi; 1f8~tt tS grat~n i tM Field~

bdlet~t} iE rDrlethe~ c~e to belieare ttwt :X: h2kd a ~ora3. res~lb1ltt P~

tttat cSin ~—rents.

~ when y~ resdnded wr c~el at pretr~
wgoerst:s tbat ttlis 1s 8 g:werntoent and not or men - and I ~er Bhould l~e
needed t2ch a reKndse I re~ ~ ~ctl I had c~e to clzerish th*t ^~1ple sn
c:allege ~ 1~ sebol.

X3e rea}a*bn S tbe fsuct thF 3~ actS~ c~ have e:)ntributed
and £rl tact dd contrStute to a srtolatton of tSt; pr~Sple ~ 2¢afeth~ thatJ
£n csznsefence, X c:>id nfl taclr artr ~.

Far that rewon, and far the sther rewo~ I stated earlLe2*, I
asked Ptr. -"hapiro to enter the plea that; he has entered, Kth a copy t:>
this Court~ three areek3 ago.

Whatever sentence nxy be bposed an me t:acxr, !cur Ronor, I an
hopefu} tSt thss Co~t will accept my stateaent t?lat I

(27)
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have pled t3 tnis chzar.5e aecau3e I believe that aws.y- raa Xho
-

aM2uspta to 1 .qter12re •~itb a n lrtividual 8 riOht ts a Sal-

tria~ axust accept tne ~snsequences and that thXs plea

-was entered f nto - nsW in ex^hange r5r anyth~ - but beeazse

I felt it ~was Qhe rioht tnin~; tc (33 Try as I tswe, I cannsX

_ __

Sully explain tD mysexf .,r to this Ccurt as~ I could have

3trayed 

5ns -fi.shose seBe cf values Aas slipg2d cnce. eWsuld n~t ~,l.bly vro£ae

ttlat ha wsuld never again 3ake a ;ai9taRe but f van only assure thla Court that thts

expertence ha5 brou~ht zze to a co&lplete re-ex5kBnati_n of my lLfe T reEgret what I have

d one j arld I wil l specd a lSetlme tryir~; to be a better rs n fs; r it .

Mau you, Your Hsnor.

~;i1S COURT: Now Mr. 3hapiro - I have, Or cour3ea made avai lable to you

all the very voluminoua pretrlal mattcr9

and material ln thra case -- the pre-sentence reporter and

much else, and I underatand that you wlah to make a statement

- and gou may do so.

~-51, SS4PIRO: Thank you, Your Honsr. I apseciate the
opportunity .

Ynur Honr, I asn ,5oin~; to ask you tsday not to serS i~b. Colaon

to ,lail. I am ,,sin5 to ask you 1nstead ~z place hxm on probatisn under the

prnviAior] of title 16 - 3651.

(98)



United States v. Egil Krogh, Jr.

_ (CR 857-73, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

October 11, 1973

October 18, 1973

November 30, 1973

January 24, 1974

Indictment filed charging defendant with two
counts of making false declaration to a Grand
Jury or Court in connection with his
knowledge of certain activities engaged in by
E. Howard Hunt and G. Gordon Liddy.

The defendant enters a plea of not guilty.

The defendant waives prosecution by
indictment.

Information filed charging defendant with one
count of conspiracy to violate the rights of
citizens in connection with the break-in at Dr.
Lewis Fielding's office.

Copy of a letter filed dated November 30, 1973
from Leon Jaworski to Stephen Shulman
advising that the government would accept a
guilty plea to a one count information.

The defendant enters a plea of guilty to
the information.

Defendant sentenced to two-six years; to serve
for a period of six months, remainder of
sentence suspended. The defendant is to be
placed on unsupervised probation for a period
of two years.

(29)
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UNITED STATES DISTBICT
COURT

FOR TlSE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF x mRICA )

v.

EGIL KROGH, JR.

Defendant. )

IUDICItoN
T

COUNT ONE

) Criminal No.

) Violation of 18 U.S.C. §1623 )
(False declarations)

The G.a-+ -war Charges:

1. On a- about August 28, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, Ears FROGS, JR., the DEFENDANT, having duly taken

an oath that he would testify truthfully, and while

testifying in a proceeding before and ancillary to a Grand

Jury of the United States, duly empanelled and sworn in the

United States District Court for the District of Columbia, did

make false material declarations as hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the said Grand Jury

was conducting an investigation in conjunction with the

United States Attorney's Office for the District of Colu.~bia

and the Federal Bureau of Investigation to determine

whether violations of 18 U.S.C. 371, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code

1801fb) and other statutes of the United States and of the

District of Columbia had been cozzitted in the District of

Columbia and elsewhere, and to identify the individual or

individuals who had co.=nitted, caused the commission of,

or conspired to co.X.mit such violations.
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3. It was material to the said investigation that the

Grand Jury ascertain the nature of the activities engaged in

by E. Howard Hunt, Jr., a subject of the investigation, while

he was employed at the White House during 1971 and 1972,

and the identity of the individual or individuals who

directed

4. At the time and place alleged, the DEFENDANT,

appearing as a witness under oath at a proceeding before

and ancillary to the said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare

with respect to the material matter alleged in paragraph 3

as follows:

Do you have any knowledge of

any travel that St_, Hunt made in connection with

the declassification of the "Pentagon Papers"

or the narcotics program that he was working

with you on?

A. I'm aware of the trip to Texas that he
took, but other travel, no.

Q. During any other period while Mr. Hunt

was working at the White House, which

would have beer through, I believe, the

end Or MarcE, I97ZE, are you aware of any

travel that he made for the White House?

A. No ! I'm not.

Q. Are you aware of any travel that ltr.

Hunt made, whether he made it for himself

personally, or for any other person?

5. The underscored portions of the declarations
quoted in paragraph 4, made by the DEFENDANT, as he then
and there

(31)



well knew, were false.

All in violation of Title AS, United States Code,
Section 1623.

COUNT TWO

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. The Grand Jury realleges all of the allegations of
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Count One of this indictment.

to the said investigation that the

Grand Jury ascertain the nature of the activities engaged

in by G. Gordon Liddy, a subject of the investigation, while

he was employed at the White House during 1971, and the

identity of the individual or individuals who directed those

activities. 3 At the time and place alleged, the DEFENDANT,

appearing as a witness under oath at a proceeding before

and ancillary to the said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare

with respect to the material matter alleged n paragraph 2

as follows:

Q. Now, what travel did Mr. Liddy do while
he was at the White House that you're aware
of?

A. He made a trip to California for me on

some customs matters, customs issues on

narcotics, which was more of an in-house

watchdog-type of trip to determine the

effectiveness of the program out there.

Re had been involved in developing

Operation Intercept in lY69, which p~etty much

was located out of the Los Angeles area, Terminal

Island.

And this was an out date, so to speak, on
how things were going in Los Anseles area.

(32)



Q. Now, he Was supposed to
contact custom officials in the Los
Angeles -

A. That was my understanding, but he did

Q. Was there a report filed by hin with
you of the trip?

A. No, just an oral report.

Q. Oral?

A. Right.

Q. Now, do you know of any other
travel that Mr. Liddy might have performed

A. No.

Q. -- Dor the FEite Rouse or for~anyone
else, or fo. himself?

A. No.

*

*

Q. Other than this one trip to California,

can you think of any reason why he would
have

had to travel to California for the Unite
House?

A. No. -

4. The u.nderscored portions of the decl>-a _ons

quoted in paragraph 3 made by the DEFENDANT, as he then and

there well knew, were false.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1623.

ARCHIBALD COX
Special Prosecutor

A True Bill

(33)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF
coLuMsIA

)

U
NITED STATES OF AMERICA )

v.

EGIL kROGH, JR.,

) Criminal No 8s7- 73
) - Violation of 18 U.S.C.
) anti (Conspiracy
) Against Riqhts of

, _, _ _ _ _

 Defendant. ) Citizens)
)

INFORMATIO
N

The United States of America, by its Attorney,

the Special Prosecutor, Watergate Special

Prosecution Force, charges:

1. From on or about July 1, 1971 to on or about

May 25, 1973, EGIL KROGH, JR., the DEFENDANT, was an

officer and employee of the United States

Government, first as Deputy Assistant for Domestic

Affairs to the President of the United States, and

later as Under Secretary of Transportation.

2. At all times material herein DEFENDANT and

various other co-conspirators unnamed herein,

were officials and employees of the United States

Government and were acting in that capacity.

3. From on or about July 1, 1971 to the

present, in the District of Columbia and elsewhere,

the DEFENDANT, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly

did combine, conspire, confederate and agree with

the co-conspirators to injure, oppress, threaten, and

intimidate Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, a citizen ox the



United States, in the free exercise and enjoyment of

a right and privilege secured to him by the

Constitution and laws of the United States and to

conceal such activities.

(34)



4. It was a part Or tne conspiracy that the DELE;D^r;T

and the co-conspirators would, without legal process,

probable cause, search warrant, or other lawful authority,

enter the building and offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding located

at 450 North Bedford Drive, Beverly Hills, Los Angeles

County, California, with intent to search for, examine, and

photograph documents and records cont lning confidential

information concernir.g Daniel Ellsberg, and thereby injure,

oppress, threaten and intimidate Dr. Lewis J. Fielding in the

free exercise and enjoyment of the right and privilege

secured to him by the Fourth .A.mendrent to the

Constitution of the United States to be secure in his person,

house, papers and effects against unreasonable searches

and seizures.

5. It was further a part of the conspiracy that with

DEFENDANT'S knowledge, consent, approval and assistance,

to-do of the co-conspirators would and did travel to

California on or about August 25, 1971 for the purpose of

preparing to carry out and implement the plan and scheme.

6. It was further a part of the conspiracy that with

DEFENDANT'S knowledge, consent, approval and assistance,

five of the co-conspirators would and did travel to California

on or about September 1, 1971 for the purpose of

implementing 2nd carrying out the plan and scheme, and

did without legal process, probable cause, search warrant

or other lawful authority, covertly and unlawfully enter

and cause to be entered the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding

located in Beverly Hills, California, and did unlawfully search

and cause to be searched the premises therein.

7. In furtherance of, and in order to effectuate the
objects of the conspiracy, the DEFENDANT and the co-conspira
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tors did perform and did cause to be performed the

following overt acts, among others, in the District

of Columbia:

OVERT ACTS

1. On or about

1971, the DEFENDANT

sent a memorandum to an official of the United

States Government.

2. On or after August 11, 1971, the DEFENDANT

had a conversation with an official of the United

States Government.

3. On or after August 27, 1971, the DEFENDANT

met with E. Howard Hunt, Jr., and an official of the

United States Government.

4. On or about August 30, 1971, the DEFENDANT

had a telephone conversation with an official of

the United States Government.

5. On or about September 1, 1971, an

official of the United States Government caused

the delivery of a sum of cash to the DEFENDANT.

6. On or about September 1, 1971, the

DEFENDANT caused a sum of cash to be delivered to an

official of the United States Government.

7. On or about September 7, 1971, the

DEFENDANT had a conversation with an official ofthe

United States Government.

—3—
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8. On or about August 28, 1972, the DEFENDANT

testified under oath.

(In violation of Title-18, United States Code,

Section 241.)

LEES JAWORSKI'~~:
Special Prosecutor
Watergate Special Prosecution
Force
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WATERG,A ATE. SPE:CIA 1. PR;().St CUTION' FORCE
United States:s l)Department o[Justice

1425?.5 Is.<itrect, N.W.'.NV.
NV;Washington, D.C. 2()(H15

November 30, 157'

Stephen N. Shulman, Esq.
Cadevalader, Wickersham &
Taft 1000 Connecticut Avenue,
NT,5ff. Washington, D. C. 20036

Dear Mr.. Shulman:

On the understandings specified below, the
United States will accept 2 guilty plea from Egil Krogh,
Jr. to a one-count information charging a conspiracy
to violate the rights of a citizen under Title ~~8, United
States Code, Section 241. This will dispose of pending
or potential charges growing out of Mr.. Krogh's
previous testimony, including that testimony of
August 28, 1972, and will also dispose of all other
potential charges against your client which might
otherwise arise out of the September 1971 unlawful
entry into the offices of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, or out of
the so-called Watergate incident, and the alleged
cover-ups relating thereto.

This disposition is predicated on the understanding
that the United States will move for leave to file a
dismissal of the indictment filed October 11, 1973,
charging Mr.. Krogh with two counts of violating Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1623. This disposition will not
bar prosecution for any other false testimony given
hereafter should it ever be discovered that your client
has given such testimony in connection with the matters
within the jurisdiction or the Special Watergate
Prosecutor.

This understanding is also predicated upon Mr.
Krogh's responsibility for full and truthful disclosure of
all relevant information and documents in his
possession, Which disclosure is to commence



subsequent to sentencing. Ultimately, of course,
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he may be required to testify as a witness for the
United States in any and all cases with respect to
which he may have relevant information.

The United States will make no recommendation
concerning Mr. Krogh's sentencing but will bring to the
attention of the probation authorities information in its
possession relating to Mr. Krogh. The United States will
join with you in urging that D'- Krogh be permitted to
remain on recognizance pending sentencing. The United
States, if requested, will make an appropriate
recommendation concerning Mr.. Krogh Krogh to any
investigative, disciplinary or fact-find;>.5 body.

Sincerely,

em
Leon Jaworski
Special Prosecutor
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STATEMENT OF DEFENDANT ON THE OFFENSE AND HIS ROLE

._ .

In describing the offense to which I have pleaded guilty,

and the nature of my role in it, I am hampered by the fact that my

present evaluation is totally antagonistic to the understanding I

had at the time. I feel unable to set forth what happened without

continuing on to discuss how my present contrary appraisal

developed. And the process of reappraisal so extensive and so

agonizing that my present evaluation is very firmly fixed, 

makes recounting my feelings

at the time of the offense all the more difficult. I have been aided

by a review of the files in the Executive Office Building on

December 13 and 14, 1973.

This case involves the work of the Special Investigation

Unit established within the White Mouse to deal with the problem

of unauthorized disclosure of classified information.

My role began on July 15 or 16, 1971, in San Clemente. At

that time, John Ehrlichman informed me that the President wanted me

to perform an urgent assignment in response to the unauthorized

disclosure of the Pentagon Papers. The entire resources of the

executive branch were to be brought to bear on this task, and I was to

make certain that the relevant departments and agencies treated the

matter as one of highest priority.

Because Dr. Daniel Ellsberg had been identified as

responsible for the leak of the Pentagon Papers, he was to be

NOSE: THIS STATEMENT MAS PREPARED BY MR. KROGH FOR
CONSIDERATION BY THE COURT AND DISTRIBUTED BY HIM
AT THE TIME OF HIS SENTENCING ON JANUARY 24, 1974.
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a vital part of the inquiry. Specifically, his motivations, his

possible collaborators, and his potential for further

disclosures were to be determined to the greatest extent possible. In

that connection, Mr. Ehrlichman instructed me that the President had

directed that I read his book, Six Crises, . and particularly the chapter

on Alger Hiss, in preparation for this assignment. The message that I

drew from this chapter was the President's concern that we proceed

with respect to the Pentagon Papers and Dr. Ellsberg with a zeal

comparable to that he exercised as a Congressman in investigating

Alger Hiss. Mr. Ehrlichman instructed me that David Young of Dr.

Kissinger's staff would be working with me on this assignment and

that we should form a small unit for the purpose. Mr. Young was to

devote full time to the-unit. My participation was to be part time, for

I was to continue my ongoing responsibilities, particularly

solidification of the Vietnam drug program and creation of a Cabinet

Committee to fight international narcotics traffic. As it happened,

these latter assignments occupied most of my time in August. Finally,

Mr. Ehrlichman instructed me that the activities of the unit were to be

impressed with the highest classification and kept secret e-Yen within.

the White House staff. To handle our assignment, Mr. Young and I

received some of the most sensitive security

clearances.

Mr. Young and I arranged for space in the Executive

Office Building, and elaborate special security systems were
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installed. Mr. E. Howard Hunt was assigned to the unit on the basis of his

extensive prior experience with the Central Intelligence Agency. Or. G.

Gordon Liddy, with whom I had worked on matters of narcotics law

enforcement and gun control while he was at the Treasury Department,

came to the Unit because of his prior experience with the Federal Bureau

of Investigation.

A damage assessment prepared by the CIA prior to

establishment of the unit reported grounds to suspect that a full

set of the Pentagon Papers had reached the Soviet Embassy. I was

early informed that similar intelligence had been furnished by the

FBI. Yet The New York Times had received only a partial set. This

development reinforced suspicion that Dr. Ellsberg or one of his

collaborators, if any, may have had some sort of foreign

involvement.

On July 24, I was summoned to the President's office with

Mr. Ehrlichman. This meeting followed by one day the appear

Times of the fallback position of the United

States in the SALT talks at Helsinki. The President appeared deeply

troubled by this unauthorized disclosure and directed me to expand the

work of the unit to cover it. He described the matter of unauthorized

disclosures as intolerable, directed We extensive administration of

polygraph tests, and made clear that the protection of national security

information must out-weigh. any individual reluctance to be

polygraphed. He discussed the creation of a new security classification

which would condition access to national security information upon

advance

- 3
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agreement to submit to polygraphing. He was deeply concerned

that any further disclosure of such information could only

undermine the SALT and Vietnam peace negotiations. His intense

determination was evident. He instructed that further leaks would not

be allowed and made me feel personally responsible

for carrying out this instruction.

The work of the unit went forward with regard to the SALT

leak, the Pentagon Papers, Dr. Ellsberg, and some other unauthorized

disclosures. Polygraphing was immediately begun (although on a far more

limited scale than originally envisioned). Dr. Ellsberg's extensive

knowledge of classified national security information in addition to the

Pentagon Papers was ascer

tained. The intensity of the national security concern expressed by the

President fired up and overshadowed every aspect of the unit's work.

It was in this context that the Fielding incident, the

break-in into the offices of Dr. Ellsberg's psychiatrist, took place.

Doubtless, this explains why John Dean has reported that I told him

that instructions for the break-in had come directly from the Oval

office. In fact, the July 24 meeting was the only direct contact I had

with the President on the work o the unit. I have just listened to a tape

of that meeting, and Dr. Ellsberg's name did not appear to be

mentioned. I had been led to believe by the White House Statement of

May 22, 1973, tha. the President had given me instructions regarding Dr.

Ellsberg in the July 24, 1971, meeting It must be that

- 4
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those instructions were relayed to me by Mr. Ehrlichman. In any

event, I received no specific instruction or authority whatsoever

regarding the break-in from the President, directly or indirectly.

As I stated in the affidavit I filed before-Judge Byrne, Mr.

Ehrlichman gave the unit authority to engage in covert activity to obtain

information on Dr. Ellsberg. The precise nature of that authorization and

the extent to which it specifically covered the break-in are matters

that will be the subject of testimony in the prosecution pending in

California and that may be involved in a prosecution in the District of

-Columbia. So are the origination of the idea of a break-in and the

manner of its formulation. I have expressed the desire, to which the

Special Prosecutor has acceded, to defer any testimony until after

sentencing. I would simply say that I considered that a break-in was

within the authority of the unit and that I did not act to foreclose one

from occurring despite the opportunity to do so. Indeed, I was under

the clear impression that such operations were by no means

extraordinary by the CIA abroad and, until 1966, by the FBI in this

country -an impression confirmed by former officers of both agencies

on 'ha unit's staff.

The break-in came about because the unit felt it could leave

no stone unturned in the investiga on of Dr. Ellsberg. The aims of the

operation were many:

a) to ascertain if Dr. Ellsberg acted alone or with

collaborators;
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D) to ascertain if Dr. Ellsberg in fact had any

involvement with the Soviets or other foreign power;

c) to ascertain if Dr. Ellsberg had any characteristics that

would cause him to make further disclosures;

d) to ascertain if prosecution of Dr. Ellsberg would induce

him to make further disclosures that he otherwise would not.

The potential uses of the above information were also

multiple. Primary, of course, was preventing further disclosures by

Dr. Ellsberg and putting an end to whatever machinery for disclosure

might have been developed. It was also thought, particularly by E.

Howard Hunt, that the sought information could be useful in causing

Dr. Ellsberg himself to declare his true intentions. Finally, there is

the point that has been most stressed in the current investigative

process -the potential use of the information in discrediting Dr.

Ellsberg as an anti-war spokesman.

My best recollection is that I focused on the prevention o

further leaks by Dr. Ellsberg and the termination of any machinery he

may have established for such disclosures. That was the use most

central to the assignment of the unit as I understood it. But my precise

focus is fundamentally not important to my guilt or innocence, because

at the time of the operation I did not consider it necessary to assign

relative weightings to the potential uses of the sought information. All

of them were dictated by the national security interest as I then

understood it.

(45)
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To my knowledge, the break-in netted nothing. When

I saw the photographs that had been taken of the damage
done,

._ .

I immediately felt that a mistake had been made. The visibility of

physical damage was somehow disturbing beyond the theoretical

impression of covert activity. I recommended to Mr. Ehrlichman that no

further actions of that _

ndertaken

. He concurred and stated that he considered the operation to

have been in excess of his authorization.

My participation in the work of the unit progressively

diminished, and for all intents and purposes ended in November, 1971.

I was recalled to the unit for a few days in December, 1971, in

connection with the India-Pakistan conflict leak. In that period, I

was asked to authorize a wire tap in connection with a highly

sensitive aspect of that leak. I declined and was thereupon

removed from the unit the same day. I learned in reviewing the

unit's files on December 13, 1973, that the tap WAS effected after my

removal along with another one in the same investigation. These are

the only instances of wire-?ping by the unit of which I am aware, and I

first learned of them on December 13.

In August, 1972, I was deposed at the Department of

Justice in connection with the grand jury investigation of the

Watergate break-in. I had been repeatedly instructed by Mr..

Ehrlich..,an that the President considered the work OL the unit a

matter of the highest national security and that I was under no

circumstances to discuss it. I was specifically advised by John Dean

that the Fielding incident was not relevant to and

- 1
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would not be touched upon in the deposition. The Assistant

United States Attorney who conducted the deposition himself
_ .

advised me that he was not interested in pursuing national

security matters.

In the course of the deposition, I was asked questions

relating to travel by Messrs. Hunt and Liddy. I answered the questions

by interpreting them as excluding national security and thus the

travel of Liddy and Hunt to California for the Fielding incident. This

interpretation was highly strained,

,

reflecting a desperate effort on my part to avoid any possible

disclosure of the work of the unit in accordance with the

instructions of the President that had been relayed to me by Mr.

Ehrlichman.

Subsequently, in April 1973, when Judge Byrne requested

persons having knowledge of the Fielding incident to file affidavits

with him, I determined that a disclosure of my role was imperative.

Because I

ing under the instructions of

the President that the work of the unit was not to be revealed under any

circumstances, I sought the advice of Attorney General-design Elliot

Richardson and requested Mr. Ehrlichman to seek the President's

permission for me to explain my involvement i.. the incident. Mr.

Ehrlichman informed me on May 2 that the President had authorized me to

make a statement, and I submitted an affidavit setting forth details of

my role in the Fielding incident on May 4. In describing the travel to

California by Messrs. Liddy and Hunt, that affidavit was inconsistent,
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and intentionally so, with the answers I had given in my depo
sition (except for the strained interpretation I have described).

_ .

I was indicted for false declarations on the basis of those

answers in October of this year. In moving to dismiss the indictment,

my counsel argued, with my approval, that the rule of Barr v. Mattes

(providing official immunity from suit) extended to criminal

prosecutions, and that the authority and discretion possessed by an

official in my position embraced false statements to protect

classified national security information-from unauthorized disclosure.

The Court rejected that argument as fundamentally

incompatible with the very existence of our society That ruling,

and the questions asked by the judge in the course of the argument,

spurred my reappraisal of my whole conception of the Fielding

incident.

While I early concluded that the operation had been a

mistake, it is only recently that I have come to regard it as unlawful.

I see now that the key is the effect that the term "national security"

had on my judgment. The very words served to block critical analysis.

It seemed at least presumpt'~~ WAS if not unpatriotic to inquire into just

what the signi--.oe of national security was.

When the issue was the proper response to a demonstrations

for example, it was natural for me to question whether the proposed

course was not excessive. The relative rankings of the rights of

demonstrators and the protection of law and order

_ g _
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could be debated, and the range of possible accomodations explored,

without the subjects of patriotism and loyalty even rising to the

level of consciousness. But to suggest that national security was

being improperly invoked was to invite a confrontation with

patriot_

yal,ty -and so appeared to

be beyond the scope and in contravention of the faithful performance

of the duties of my office.

Yet what is national security? I mentioned that all of the

potential uses of the information sought in the Fielding incident were

consistent with my then concept of nat_

ity. The discrediting of Dr. Ellsberg, which today strikes me as repulsive

and an inconceivable national security goal, at the time would have

appeared a means of blocking the possibility that he would become such

a popular figure that others possessed of classified information would

be encouraged to emulate him. More broadly, it would serve to diminish

any influence he might have in mobilizing opposition to the course of

ending the Vie-~~n2m war that had been set by the President. And that

co -se was the very definition of national security. Freedom of the

President to pursue his planned course was the ultimate national-'

security objective.

The fact that I do not recall this use as my personal

motivating  force provides scant comfort. I can recollect that } wou d

have accepted the rationalization I have just described. The invocation

of national security stopped me from asking the question, "Is this the

right thing to do."

— ,t0 —
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My experience in the months since my resignation from

Government, during which I have been under intense investigation and

multiple indictments, has also affected my view. I have throughout this

most difficult period been free, first because I had not yet been

indicted and later on recognizances And I perceive this freedom as the

very essence of our society and our system.

This freedom for me is not a privilege but a right protected

by our Constitution. It is one of a host of rights that I as an American

citizen am fortunate to share with Dr. Ellsberg end Dr. Fielding. These

rights of the individual cannot be sacrificed to the mere assertion of

national security.

National security is obviously a fundamental goal and t

proper concern of any country. It is also a concept that is

subject to a wide range of defini

actor that

makes all the more essential a painstaking approach to the

definition of national security in any given instance.

But however national security is defined, I now see that

none of the potential uses of the sought information could justify the

invasion of the rights of the individuals that the break-in

necessitated. The understanding I have come to is that these rights

are the definition of our nation. To invade them unlawfully in the

name of national security is to work a destructive force upon the

nation, not to take a protective measure. I have been recalling the U.

S. personnel in Vietnam -with whom I served in the military and with

whom I visited

— 11 —
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THE BREAK-IN AT THE DEMOCRATIC
NATIONAL

COMMITTEE HEADQUARTERS AND ITS
SUBSEQUENT INVESTIGATIONS
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United States v. John W. Dean

(CR 886-73, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

October 19, 1973

August 2, 1974

The defendant waives prosecution
by
indictment.

Information filed charging the
defendant with one count of
conspiracy to obstruct justice in
connection with the investigation
being conducted into the break-in
of offices of the Democratic
National Committee Headquarters.

Copy of a letter filed dated October
18, 1973 from Special Prosecutor
Archibald Cox to Charles N. Shaffer
advising that the government would
accept a plea of guilty from the
defendant to a one count
information.

The defendant enters a plea of
guilty to the information.

Defendant sentenced to a prison

term
of one

to four years.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
V I

JOHN W. DEAN, III, 3

Defendant. )

)

INFORMATIO
N

Criminal No. g SG 73

Violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 371 (Conspiracy to
Obstruct Justice and
Defraud the United
States or America)

The United States of America, by its Attorney,
the Special Prosecutor, Watergate Special Prosecution
Force,

charges:

1. At all times material herein, JOHN W. DEAN, III,

the DEFENDANT, was Counsel to the President of the

United States.

2. At all times material herein, the United States

Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia and the

Federal Bureau of Investigation were parts of the

Department of Justice, an agency of the United States,

and the Central Intelligence Agency was an agency of the

United States. 0

3. On or about June 5, 1972, a Grand Jury of the

United States District Court for the District of Columbia

was duly empanelled and sworn. Beginning on or about

June 23, 1972, and at all times material herein, the said

Grand Jury was conducting an investigation in

conjunction with the United States Attorney's Office for



the District of Columbia and the Federal Bureau of

Investigation to determine whether violations of 18

U.S.C. 371, 2511 and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other

statutes of the United

(54)



States and of the District of Columbia, had been

committed in the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, and to identify the individual or

individuals who had committed, caused the

commission of, or conspired to commit such

violations.

4. On September 15, 1972, in connection with

the said investigation, the said Grand Jury returned

an indictment in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the

United States District Court for the District of

Columbia.

5. From on or about June 17, 1972 up to and

including March 29, 1973, in the District of Columbia

and elsewhere, JOHN W. DEAN, III, the DEFENDANT,

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly did combine,

con

spire, confederate and agree with co-conspirators

unnamed herein to commit offenses against the United

States, to wit, violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1503; and to defraud the United States

and Agencies and Departments thereof, to wit, the

Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), the Federal Bureau

of Investigation (FBI) and the Department of Justice,

by interfering with and obstructing their lawful

governmental functions by deceit and dishonest

means.

6. It was a part of the conspiracy that the

coconspirators and defendant would corruptly

influence, obstruct and impede, and corruptly

endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede, the

due administration of justice in Connection with the

investigation referred to in paragraph three (3) above

and in connection with the
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trial of Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia by the

following means, among others: (a) influencing

witnesses to give false, deceptive and misleading

statements and testimony concerning matters

relevant to the investigation and the trial; (b)

concealing and destroying evidence relevant to

matters which were the subject of the investigation

and the trial; and (c) giving false, deceptive and

misleading statements and testimony concerning

matters relevant to the investigation and the trial.

7. It was further a part of the conspiracy that

the co-conspirators and defendant would covertly

raise, acquire, transmit, distribute and pay cash funds

for the benefit of the individuals named in the

indictment in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia, both

prior to and subsequent to the return of the

indictment on September 15, 1972, for the purpose of

concealing and causing to be concealed the identities

of others who Were responsible for, participated in, or

had knowledge of the activities which were the

subject of the investigation and trial, and for the

purpose of concealing and causing to be concealed

the scope of these and related activities.

8. It was further a part of the conspiracy
that the co-conspirators and defendant
would make and cause to be made offers of
leniency, executive clemency, and
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other benefits to certain of the individuals named

in the indictment in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the
. .

United States District Court for the District of

Columbia for the purpose of concealing and causing

to be concealed the identities of others who were

responsible for, participated in, or had knowledge of

the- activities which were the subject of the

investigation and trial, and for the purpose of

concealing and causing to be concealed the scope of

these and related activities.

9 It was further a part of the conspiracy that

the co-conspirators and defendant would interfere

with and obstruct the lawful governmental functions

of the CIA by attempting, by deceit and dishonest

means, to use the CIA to obstruct the investigation

referred to in paragraph three (3) above and to

provide covert financial assistance to persons who

were subjects of the investigation.

further a part of the conspiracy

that the co-conspirators and defendant would

interfere with and obstruct the lawful governmental

functions of the FBI and the Department of Justice by

obtaining and attempting to obtain from the FBI and

the Department of Justice, by deceit and dishonest

means, information concerning the investigation

referred to in paragraph three (3) above for the

purpose of hindering, impeding, obstructing and

delaying the said investigation.

11. In furtherance of, and in order to effectuate
the objects of the conspiracy, the coconspirators and
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defendant did perform and did cause to be

performed the following overt acts, among

others, in the District of Columbia:

OVERT ACTS

 1. On or about June 19, 1972, JOHN W. DEAN,
III

directed G. Gordon Liddy to tell E. Howard Hunt to

leave the United States.

2. On or about June 27, 1972, JOHN W. DEAN'.,

III asked General Vernon A. Walters, Deputy Director

of the CIA, whether the CIA could use covert funds

to em the bail and salaries of those involved in the

k-in at the Watergate Office
Complex.

1972 +,-~~cv
3. On or about June 29, R555: JOHN.W. DEAN, III

uested Herbert W. Ka W ach to raise cash funds

with ch to make covert payments to and for the

benefit those involved in the break-in at the

Watergate -ice Complex.

4. In or about July and October, 1972, JOHN

W. EN, III requested L. Patrick Gray, Acting

Director the.FBI, to provide him with reports of

information tained during the FBI investigation.

5. On or before August 15, 1972, JOHN W.

DEAN, III met with Jeb Stuart Magruder for the

purpose of assisting Magruder in preparing false,

deceptive and misleading testimony in anticipation

of Magruder's appearance before the Grand Jury.

6. On or about January 9, 1973, JOHN W. DEAN,
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III requested John C. Caulfield to deliver an offer

of executive clemency to James McCord, one of the

defendants in Criminal Case Mo. 1827-72 in the

United States District Court for the District of

Columbia.

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 371.)

ARCHIBALD COX
Special Prosecutor
Watergate Special Prosecution
Force
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CVA FEKCi,t-l E SPECIAL. PROSECUT TION' FORCE
United STATES L)Department of Justice

1425 K Street, N.W..
Washington, D.C. 20)()n,

October 18, 1973

Charles Norman Shaffer, Esq.
Shaffer, McKeever & Fitzpatrick
342 Hungerford Court
Rockville, Maryland 20850

Dear Sir:

The Government will accept a guilty plea from John
W. Dean, III, to a one count information charging a
conspiracy to obstruct justice and to defraud the United
States. This will dispose of all other potential charges
against your client which might otherwise arise out of
the investigation OL the so-called Watergate incident and
the alleged coverup relating thereto, including without
limitation possible violations of the Federal Election
Campaign Act and the Corrupt Practices Act; but this
disposition will not bar prosecution for perjury should it
ever be discovered that your client has given materially
false testimony in connection with matters within the
jurisdiction of the Special Watergate Prosecutor.

The Government will join with th you in urging that Mr.
Dean's sentencing be deferred until after the trial of others
implicated by It. Dean's testimony and that Mr. Dean be
permitted to remain on bond or on recognizance pending
sentence in order to facilitate his cooperation with the
Government.

This understanding is predicated upon Mr. Dean's
complete cooperation with the Government, including the
immediate, full and truthful disclosure of all information in
his possession. Ultim.,ately, of course, he will be required
to testify as a witness for the Government in any and all
cases with respect to which he may nave relevant
information. The extent of his cooperation will be brought
to the Court's attention by the Gover ~~ ent before



sentencing.

Sincerely,

+

~~~~X/
dox

Archibald Cox
Special Prosecutor
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United States v. Fred C. LaRue

(CR 556-73, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

June 27, 1973

The defendant waives prosecution
by indictment.

Information filed charging the
defendant with one count of
conspiracy to obstruct justice in
connection with the investigation
being conducted into the break-in of
the offices of the Democratic National
Committee Headquarters.

Copy of a letter filed dated June 12,
1973 from Archibald Cox to Fred M.
Vinson, Jr. advising that the
government would accept a plea of
guilty to a one count information.

The defendant enters a plea of
guilty to the information.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT
C0UR}
FOR THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA

The United States of America

v.

Fred C LaRue

: Criminal No Ss6 73

: Violation 18 U. S Code
371

: Conspiracy to Obstruct
Justice

INFORMATIO
N

The United States of America, by its Attorney, The Special Prosecutor,

Watergate Special Prosecution Force Charges:

1. At all times material herein, a Grand Jury, duly empanelled

and sworn on June 5, 1972, in the United States District Court for the

District of Columbia, was conducting an investigation in

conjunction with the United States Attorney's Office for said

district and the Federal Bureau of Investigation, to determine

whether there were violations in the District of Columbia involving

unlawful conspiracy (18 U. S. C #371),unlawful interception of wire

and oral communications (18 U. S C #2510), burglary (22 D C. Code

1801(b))and unlawful possession of intercepting devices (22 D C.

Code 543(a)), statutes of the United States and the District of

Columbia and to identify the individual or individuals who had

committed such violations.

2. At all times material herein, the United States Attorney's

Office for the District of Columbia and the Federal Bureau of

Investigation were parts of the Department of Justice.

3. At all times material herein, the Committee for the

Reelection of the President was conducting campaign activities

in behalf of the re-election of Richard M Nixon as President of

the United States, with offices and headquarters at 1701



Pennsylvania Avenue N W Washington, D.C
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4. Fred C. LaRue was associated with the Committee for

the Re-election of the President from about January, 1972,

through March, 1973, IS senior advisor and special assistant.

5. From on or about June 17, 1972, and continuing

thereafter up to March 23, 1973, in the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, Fred C. LaRue, the defendant herein, unlawfully,

wilfully and knowingly did agree, combine, and conspire with co-

conspirators unnamed herein, to commit offenses against the

United States, to-wit, violations of Title IS, United States Code,

Section 1503, in that they did corruptly endeavor to influence,

obstruct and impede the due administration of justice.

6. It was a part of said conspiracy that the defendant

LaRue and others unnamed herein would and did devise,

implement and carry out a strategy, plan and scheme to impede,

impair and obstruct the joint investigation by the Grand Jury

and the Department of Justice by concealing evidence relevant

to matters which were the subject of the investigation.

7. It was a further part of said Conspiracy that in order to

implement the strategy, plan and scheme referred to in

paragraph six (6) hereof, the defendant and co-conspirators would

and did participate in meetings to develop and prepare false,

deceptive and misleading testimony to be given to the Federal

Bureau of Investigation, United States Attorney's Office for the

District of Columbia, the Grand Jury and ultimately to the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia.

8. It was a further part of said conspiracy that the

defendant and his co-conspirators would and did covertly

acquire, transmit, distribute and pay cash funds for the benefit

of the
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individuals named in the indictment in Criminal Case No. 1827-72

in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia

both prior and subsequent to the return of the indictment on

September 15, 1972, for the purpose of concealing the identities

of other participants in the violations charged in said indictment

and the scope of these-and related activities

9. In furtherance of and in order to effectuate the object

of the aforesaid conspiracy the defendants and coconspirators

did do and perform and caused to be done and performed the

following overt acts in the District of Columbia and at diverse

other places.

Overt Acts

1. On or about June 19, 1972, in the District of Columbia,

Fred C LaRue and others unnamed herein met at the apartment

of a conspirator unnamed herein and agreed to destroy or cause

to be destroyed certain incriminating records relating to the

break-in at the Watergate offices of the Democratic National

Committee

2. On or about July 19, 1972, in the District of Columbia,

Fred C. LaRue delivered a sum of money in cash to Herbert M

Kalmbach in an office of the Old Executive Office Building.

t. On or about July 26, 1972, in the District of Columbia,

Fred C LaRue delivered a sum of money in cash to Herbert M.

Kalmbach

4. Prior to August 16, 1972, in the District of Columbia,

Fred C. LaRue and others unnamed herein, attended meetings

on the fourth floor of 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N W , where

Jeb S. Magruder's false, misleading and deceptive statement,

previously made to the Federal Bureau of Investigation, was

further discussed
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5 On or about August 16, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, Jeb S. Magruder gave false, deceptive and

misleading testimony to the Grand Jury

6 On or about September 19, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, Fred C LaRue received approximately twenty-

nine thousand nine hundred dollars ($29 900) in cash

7. On or about December 1, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, Fred C LaRue received approximately two hundred

and eighty thousand dollars ($280,000) in cash.

(All in Violation of 18 U.S Code 371)

4~~<-Ec'.< .A./er xZ
Special Prosecutor
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XV,\ l t R(;aX I~f. SPECIAL. I'R()iEC8iJl l()'' FORCE()I'(~~f.
United(l States l).;z.titmcilg (,$ Justice:

14.^.z K Street, N.W!.
Washington D.C. 2,J(),<)S

Sir. Fred M.. Vinsonv Jr., Esq.
SOO 17th Street, N.W..
Washing,5sto2, D C

Dea-- Sir. Vinson:

June 12, 1973

The Government will accept a guilty plea from Mr.. Fred
LaRue to a one count indictment or information a conspiracy
to obstruct Justice. This will dispose of all other potential
charges against your cli which raight-ntherwise arise out
of the investigation OL socalled Watergate incident and the
alleged cover-up relating thereto, including without
limitation possible violations or the Federal Election
Campaign Act and the
 Cor ~~ D__ Lo S; DECO An } The Government 4 TAT; 1 1 i rain with yo

ent
the

DUL | X? L X t Pr; L | W%O Ac G . The Government wi L 1 J U LLL Xv L L1C you in urging
that Mr. LaRue's sentencing be deferred until after the trial of
those implicated by testimony already g given by Mr. LaRue and
that Mr. LaRue be permitted to remain on bond or on
recognizance pending sentence in order to facilitate his

cooperation with the Government.

Finally, this understanding is predicted upon Mr.. LaRue's complete
cooperation with the Government, including the Immediate, full
and truthful disclosure~of al-L information in his possession.
Ultimately; of course, he will be required to testify as a witness for
the Government in any and all cases with respect to which he
may nave relevant information. The extent of his cooperation
will be brought to the Court's attention by the Government
before sentencing

Sincerely,



ARCHIBALD COD
Special Prosecutor
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United States v. G. Gordon Liddy, F. Howard Hunt, James
McCord, Bernard Barker, Euzenio Martinez, _ 7 Frank
Sturgis, Virgilio Gonzalez

(CR 1827-72, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

September 15, 1972

September 17, 1972

January 8, 1973

January 11, 1973

Indictment filed charging all the defendants with
one count of conspiracy (Count 1); one count of
burglary (Count 2); and three counts of
intercepting oral and wire communications
(Counts 3,4,5) in connection with the break-in
at the offices of the Democratic National
Committee Headquarters. In addition, G.
Gordon Liddy and E. Howard Hunt charged
with a further count of intercepting wire
communications (Count 8); James McCord
charged with two counts of unlawful
possession of intercepting devices (Counts 6,7)
and a further count of intercepting wire
communications (Count 8); and Bernard
Barker, Eugenio Martinez, Frank Sturgis, and
Virgilio Gonzalez charged with two counts of
unlawful possession of intercepting devices
(Counts 6,7).

The defendants enter a plea of not guilty.

Case called for trial.

E. Howard Hunt withdraws plea of not guilty
and pleads guilty to Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8.
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January 15, 1973

._

January 30, 1973

March 1, 1973

March 7, 1973

March 20, 1973

March 23, 1973

March 26, 1973

Bernard Barker, Eugenio Martinez,
Frank Sturgis, and Virgilio Gonzalez
withdraw pleas of not guilty and plead
guilty to Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7.

Verdict: G. Gordon Liddy and James
McCord found guilty as indicted.

Liddy files motion for judgment of
acquittal or for a new trial.

McCord files motion for judgment of
acquittal for for a new trial.

McCord presents a letter to Chief
Judge Sirica including the claims
that political pressure was
applied to the defendants to
plead guilty and remain silent, and
that others involved in the
Watergate break-in were not
identified during the trial.

Liddy and McCord motions for judgment
of acquittal or for a new trial are
denied.

Chief Judge Sirica reads McCord letter in
open court.

Liddy sentenced to 20 months-five years
and fine of $10,000 on Count 1; five
years-15 years on Counts 2 and 3; 20
months-five years on Counts 4, 5 and 8.

(Docket entry reads: "It is the Court's
intention that the defendant will
serve a total sentence of six years,
eight months-20 years and pay a fine
of $40,000.00.")



Lidd) files notice of appeal from
sentence imposed March 23, 1973
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June 8, 1973

September 14, 1973

September 19, 1973

November 7, 1973

November 9, 1973

McCord files motion in the nature of
a writ of error coram nobis and/ or
for judgment of acquittal or for a
new trial.

Bernard Barker, Eugenio Martinez,
Frank Sturgis, and Virgilio Gonzalez
file motions to vacate judgment of
conviction and for leave to withdraw
pleas of guilty.

E. Howard Hunt files motion for leave
to withdraw plea of guilty.

Orders issued denying defendants'
motions for leave to withdraw pleas
of guilty or for a new trial.

Sentences:

E. Howard Hunt 20 months-five
years and fine of $10,000 on Count
1; 30 months-eight years on each of
Counts 2 and 3; 20 months-five
years on each of Counts 4, 5 and 8.
Said sentences to run concurrently.

Transcript entry reads: ("It being
the intention of the Court that the
Defendant will serve a total of not
less than 30 months and not more
than eight years. . . .")

James
McCord

_ _

One-five years on each of Counts
18. Said sentences to run
concurrently.

Transcript entry reads: ("It being
the intention of the Court that the
Defendant will serve a total of not

less than
one year nor

more than five years. . . .")
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Bernard Barker One-five years on
each of Counts 1, 4, 5, 6 and 7; 18
months-five years on each of
Counts 2 and 3. Said sentences to
run concurrently.

Transcript entry reads: "It being the
intention of the Court that the
Defendant will serve a total sentence
of not less than 18 months nor more
than six years. . . .")

Eugenio Martinez, Frank Sturgis,
Virgilio Gonzalez One-four years on
each of Counts 1-7. Said sentences
to run concurrently.

November 13,
1973

November 19,
1973

Transcript entry reads: (It being the
intention of the Court that the
Defendant[s] will serve a total of not
less than one year nor more than four
years. . . .")

Notice of appeal from sentence imposed
November 9, 1973 filed by James
McCord.

Notice of appeal from
sentences imposed

November 9, 1973 filed by
Bernard Barker,

Eugenio Martinez, Frank Sturgis and
Virgilio Gonzalez.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR TIIE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Holding a Criminal Term

Grand Jury Sworn in on June 5, 1972

The United States of America

v.

George Gordon Liddy,
also known as: Gordon Liddy and
George F. Leonard
EveretteHoward Hunt, Jr.,

also known as: Howard Hunt,
Edward L. Warren and
Edward J. Hamilton

James W. McCord, Jr.,
also known as: Edward J. Warren and
Edward J. Martin

Bernard L. Barker,
also known as: Frank or Fran Carter

Eugenio R. Martinez,
also known as: Gene or Jene Valdes

Frank A. Sturgis,
also known as:Frank Angelo Fiorini,
Edward J. Hamilton, and
Joseph DiAlberto or
D'Alberto

Virgilio R. Gonzalez,
also known as: Raul or Raoul Godoy

- or
Goboy

Criminal No. 1 5 a , 72

: Grand Jury Original

: Violation: 18 U.S. Code
371, 2511
22 D.C. Code

(Conspiracy; Interception of
Oral and Wire
Communications; Second
Degree Burglary; Unlawful
Possession Intercepting
Devices)

The Grand Jury charges:

FIRST COUNT:

1. At all times material hereto the Democratic National

Committee, an unincorporated association, was the organization

responsible for conducting the affairs of the Democratic Party of



the United States. - 0

2. At all times material hereto the Democratic National

Committee had its offices and headquarters at 2600 Virginia Avenue,

N.W., Washington, D.C.

3. At all times material hereto George Gordon Liddy, also

known as Gordon Liddy and George F. Leonard and hereinafter

referred to as defendant Liddy, was employed as counsel for the

Finance Committee to Re-Elect the President located at 1701

Pennsylvania Avenue, N.\f.,

Washington, D.C. (71)
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4. At all times material hereto, Everette Howard Hunt,

Jr., also known as Howard Hunt, Edward L. Warren, and

Edward J. Hamilton, and hereinafter referred to as the

defendant Hunt, was a friend and associate of defendant

Liddy and Bernard I,. Barker.

5. At all times material hereto, James W. McCord, Jr.,

also known as Edward J. Warren and Edward J. Martin, and

hereinafter referred to as defendant McCord, was the

President of McCord Associates, Inc. The defendant McCord

at all times material hereto also served as security

coordinator for the Committee for the Re-Election of the

President located at 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.,

Washington, D.C.

6. At all times material hereto, Bernard L. Barker, also

known as Frank and Fran Carter, and hereinafter referred to

as defendant Barker, was President of Barker Associates,

Inc., a real estate corporation with offices at 2301

Northwest Seventh Street, Miami, Florida.

7. At all times material hereto, Eugenio R.

Martinez, also known as Gene or Jene Valdes and

hereinafter referred to as defendant Martinez, was

employed by Barker Associates,

Inc.

8. At all times material hereto, Frank A. Sturgis, also

known as Frank Angelo Fiorini, Edward J. Hamilton, and

Joseph D'Alberto and DiAlberto and hereinafter referred

to as defendant Sturgis, was an associate of defendant

Barker.

9. At all times material hereto, Virgilio R. Gonzalez,

also known as Raul and Raoul Codoy or Goboy and

hereinafter referred to as defendant Gonzalez, was an

associate of defendant Barker employed as a locksmith in



Miami, Florida.
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10. From on or about May 1, 1972, and continuing

thereafter through June 17, 1972, the exact dates

beingunknown, within the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, the defendants Liddy, Hunt, McCord, Barker,

Martinez, Sturgis, and Gonzalez, hereinafter collectively

referred to as the DEFENDANTS, unlawfully, willfully, and

knowingly did agree, combine, and conspire with each other

and among themselves to commit offenses against the

United States, that is, by various illegal and unlawful

methods and means, to obtain and use illegally information

from the offices and headquarters of the Democratic

National Committee and related political entities. The illegal

and unlawful methods and means which are known to the

Grand Jury that were used or attempted to be used by the

defendants to obtain and use information illegally from the

offices and headquarters of the Democratic National

Committee were as follows:

To enter unlawfully the offices and headquarters

of the Democratic National Committee:

(1) To intercept wire communications of

officers and employees of the Democratic National

Committee by placing in the offices and headquarters

of the Democratic National Committee an electronic

device or devices designed for the surreptitious

interception and transmission of telephone con-versations

to a receiver located in a room at the Howard Johnson's

Motor Lodge at 2601 Virginia Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C.

The terms "intercept", "wire communication" and

"electronic device" are used by the Grand Jury as they are

defined in Title 18 U.S. Code § 2510;
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(2) To intercept oral communications within the

offices and headquarters of the Democratic National

Committee by placing within these premises an electronic

device designed for the surreptitious interception and

transmission of conversations of persons within these

premises to a receiver located in a room at the Howard

Johnson's Motor Lodge at 2601 Virginia Avenue, N.W.,

Washington, D.C. The terms "intercept", "oral

communication''ald "electronic device" are used by the

Grand Jury as they are defined in Title 18, United States

Code § 2510;

(3) To obtain documents, papers, and records of

the Democratic National Committee by stealing them from

the offices and headquarters of the Democratic National

Committee;

(4) To obtain copies of documents, papers, and

records of the Democratic National Committee by removing

them from their location within the offices and

headquarters of the Democratic National Committee,

taking photographs of them and then returning them to

the location from which they

were illegally
removed;

In furtherance of the aforesaid conspiracy and to

effect the objects thereof, the DEFENDANTS did commit,

among others, the following overt acts in the District of

Columbia and else

where:

1. The DEFENDANTS did and caused to be done the acts

set forth in the succeeding counts of this indictment on

the dates, at the places, and in the manner set forth

therein, all of which are incorporated by reference as

though fully set forth and made a part hereof.
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2. On or about May 5, 1972, and continuing through

about May 28, 1972, Room 419 at the Howard Johnson's

Motor Lodge, located at 2601 Virginia Avenue, N.W.,

Washington, D.C. was rented or leased by the defendant

McCord in the name of McCord Associates.

3. On or about May 8, 1972, the defendant Liddy made

a telephone call from the District of Columbia to the

defendant Barker at Barker Associates, Inc.

4. On or about May lO, 1972, in Rockville, Maryland, the

defendant McCord purchased a Receiving System for

McCord Associates, Inc., for which he paid $3,500 in cash, a

device capable of receiving intercepted wire and oral

communication
s.

5. On or about May 17, 1972, the defendant Barker made

two telephone calls from Barker Associates, Inc. to the

defendant Liddy at the Finance Committee to Re-Elect the

President and two calls to the defendant Hunt within the District

of Columbia

6. On or about May l9, 1972, the defendant Hunt made

one telephone call from the District of Columbia to the

defendant Barker at Barker Associates, Inc. and one

telephone call from the District of Columbia to the defendant

Barker at his residence.

7. On or about May 22, 1972, the defendant Barker -using

the alias of Fran Carter, the defendant Martinez -- using the

alias of G. Valdes, the defendant Sturgis -- using the alias of

Joseph DiAlberti, and the defendant Gonzalez -using the alias

of Raul Goboy, traveled from Miami, Florida, to Washington, D.C.

8. On May 26, 1972, the defendant Liddy -- using the

alias of George F. Leonard, the defendant Hunt -- using

the alias of Edward L. Warren, the defendant Barker -

using the
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alias of Frank Carter, the defendant Martinez -- using the

alias of Gene Valdes, the defendant Sturgis -- using the

alias Joseph D'Alberti, and the defendant Gonzalez using

the alias Raul Godoy, registered at the Watergate Hotel

at 2650 Virginia Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C.

9. On or about May 26, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the defendants Liddy, Hunt and McCord met.

10. On or about May 27, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the defendants Liddy, Hunt, and McCord

inspected, surveyed, and reconnoitered the headquarters

of Senator George McGovern at 410 First Street, S.E.

11. On or about May 29, 1972, and continuing through

June 17, 1972, Room 723 at the Howard Johnson's Motor

Lodge, located at 2601 Virginia Avenue, N.W., Washington,

D.C. was rented and leased by the defendant McCord in the

name of McCord Associates.

~ 12. On or about June 5, 1972, the defendant Hunt made

a telephone call from within the District of Columbia to

the defendant Barker at Barker Associates, Inc.

13. On or about June 11-15, 1972, within the

District of Columbia, the defendants Liddy, Hunt

and McCord met and the defendant Liddy gave the

defendant McCord about $1,600 in cash.

14. On or about June 12, 1972, in Miami, Florida, the

defendants Martinez and Sturgis purchased surgical

gloves.

15. On or about June 13, 1972, and June 15, 1972, in

Miami, Florida, the defendant Martinez purchased

film and other photographic equipment.

(76)



16. On or about June 15, 1972, the defendant Hunt M

three telephone calls from the District of Columbia to the

defendant Barker at Barker Associates, Inc.

17. On or about June 16, 1972, the defendant Hunt

made a telephone call from within the District of Columbia

to the defendant Barker at his residence.

18. On or about June 16, 1972, the defendant

Barker made a telephone call to the defendant Hunt

within the District of Columbia and to the defendant

Liddy at the Finance Committee to Re-Elect the

President.

19. On or about June 16, 1972, the defendant Barker -

using the alias F. Carter, the defendant Martinez -using the

alias G. Valdez, the defendant Sturgis -- using the alias J.

DiAlberto, and the defendant Gonzalez -using the alias R.

Godoy, traveled from Miami, Florida, to the District of

Columbia

20. On or about June 17, 1972, within the District of

Columbia the defendant McCord stole documents and

papers belonging to the Democratic National Committee.

(In violation of 18 U.S.Code § 371)

SECOND COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the DEFENDANTS Liddy, Hunt, McCord, Barker,

Martinez, Sturgis, and Gonzalez entered the rooms, that is, the

offices and headquarters,of the Democratic National

Committee, with the intent to steal property of another.

(In violation of 22 D.C. Code § 1801(b))
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THIRD COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District OF

Columbia, the Defendant  Liddy, Hunt, McCord, Barker,

Martinez, Sturgis, and Gonzalez entered the rooms, that is, the

offices and headquarters of the Democratic National

Committee, with the intent to intercept willfully, knowingly,

and unlawfully oral communications made within these rooms

and wire communications received and sent from telephones

located in these rooms. The terms "oral communication" and

"wire communication" are used by the Grand Jury as they are

defined in Title 18 U.S. Code § 2510.

(In violation of 22 D.C. Code § 1801(b))

FOURTH COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District
of

Columbia, the DEFENDANTS Liddy, Hunt, McCord, Barker,

Martinez, Sturgis, and Gonzalez willfully, knowingly, and

unlawfully did endeavor to intercept oral communications

made within the offices headquarters of the Democratic

National committee.

(In violation of 18 U.S.Code §
2511)

FIFTH COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the DEFENDANTS Liddy, Hunt, McCord, Barker,

Martinez, Sturgis, and Gonzalez willfully, knowingly, and

unlawfully did endeavor to intercept wire communications

received by and sent from telephones located in the

offices and headquarters of the Democratic National

Committee.

- (In violation of 18 V.S. Code 2511)

(78)





- 9 -

SIXTH COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the defendants, McCord, Barker, Martinez,

Sturgis, and Gonzalez did willfully possess an intercepting

device, to wit, a white plastic box, 8-1/4 inches by 2-3/8

inches, by 2-3/4 inches, with two labels on the front which

read "ARI Smoke Detector" and "Fire Eqpt.DO NOT MOVE", but

which contained inside six batteries wired in series and a

miniature radio transmitter with a microphone, the design

of which said device rendered it primarily useful for the

purpose of the surreptitious interception of an oral

communication.

(In violation of 23 D.C. Code § 23543(a))

SEVENTH COUNT:

On or about June 17, 1972, within the District of

Columbia, the defendants McCord, Barker, Martinez,

Sturgis, and Gonzalez did willfully possess an intercepting

device, to wit, a miniature radio transmitter

approximately 1-1/2 inches long, 1 inch wide, and 1/2 inch

high, with two wires protruding from one end of the

transmitter and which served to connect the

transmitter in series with one wire of a telephone line and

one wire protruding from the opposite end which served

as a radiating antenna, the design of which said device

rendered it primarily useful for the purpose of the

surreptitious interception of a wire communication.

(In violation of 23 D.C. Code 5 543(a))
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EIGHTH
COUNT:

From on or about May 25, 1972, and continuing up

to on or about June 16, 1972,within the District of

Columbia, the defendants Liddy, Hunt, and McCord

willfully, knowingly, and unlawfully did intercept,

endeavor to intercept and procure and cause the

interception of wire communications received by and sent

from telephones located in the offices and headquarters

of the Democratic National Committee and

used primarily during this period by Robert Spencer Oliver

and Ida M. Wells.

(In violation of 18 U.S. Code § 2511)

zf~~'~~v+'~~
X

United States Attorney for
the District of Columbia

A TRUE BILL:

~~~~tCt~4
9

Foreman of the Gran
Jury.
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activit}es attributed to HI-, Bernard Barker and associates i by one Reinaldo Pico. In

the article by jux:tapositiorl my name is mentioned in connection with

such activities. I

"A:s I have telephonically advised your office after seeing the article I

have no knowledge of or connection with any such strong-arm

activities referred to in the article. Neither have I ever met Err. Pico to

my knowledge

"You made no effort to contact my attorneys or me

prior to publication of the article which T 

could have stated for publication I just said above -Very truly yours,

- James W. McCord, Jr." .

The other letter dated March 19 on the letterhead of James

W.. McCord, Jr., 7 Winder Court > Rockville, Maryland, addressed to Judge Sirica

states:

• "Certain questions have been posed to me from your honor through
the probation officer, dealing with det ails |

 of the case, motivations, intent and mitigating circum g

stances s - ~ - - - ~

"In endeavoring to respond to these questions , I au

whipsawed in 2 variety of legalities. First, I may be

called before a Senate Committee investigation this

matter, Secondly, I may be involved in a civil suit;

and thirdly there may be a new trial at same future date.



(82)



"Fourthly '} the P-O}DaPiCT1 officer may be called before the Senate:e Comm:n.ittee

to present testimony—.ony reg,a-.din.~~, what may otherwise

be a pr- vileg-~~d ed...un.c2.1nn between defendant : and Judge as I

under,~~_nd it; if I ans.,2red certain question to t;.2 probation

officer, it is possible such ans;ers could d become 2 mat';eL OL record

in the Senate and therefore available for use in the othe.

proceedings just described.| My answers would, it would seem

to me, to ~~^iolate my F~~Ith Asendtent r~~|~~,hts, and

poss:Blat my Saxth Z.~~2ndrtoNt riaht to cou2sel 2nd sosslbly

o.her riohts.

"On the other hand, to faiL to ansaze your qu"stlons

may appsar to be non-cooperatlon, 2nd T can therexore e^?e

.

a much more severe sentence.

t'The,e are ~ur.lle. conside-aLinns which are not to be

liOhtly '~~aken. Several members oZ ny LZN''1Y n2V° 2^PreSSeT £ear fot

my life if I disclose knc sLedte O£L the facts in I this matter, eithet
publiclJr or to any gov2rnment rec-e- | sentative. '~~Mereas I

do not shfire Allei~~ concerns to the | same degr2e,

nevertheless, I do beti2ve th2t retuSliaterr meaSures lsill be

talsen aOainst Irzea 3aY r2mily, 2nd my friends sh.ould T aisctose

suc't zacts. ouch letariation cou;d eostroy careers, incom2,

and repuLations af p^rson.s who are innocent o' any ouiSt

lX'na,exer.

'$Be tllat 2S it may, in tllo in~erests o~~- zus~~__c, ar.a

in tlle rnt_rcsts o:~~ restux-_r.O f^^i.t'a in t'le _r~~.^net >
X:~~txc]

(83)



.



Indistinct document retyped
by
House Judiciary Committee
staff

system, which faith has been severely damaged in this

case, I will state the following to you at this time

which I hope may be of help to you in meting out

justice in this case:

"1. There was political pressure applied to the

defendants to plead guilty and remain

silent.

"2. Perjury occurred during the trial in matters

highly material to the very structure,

orientation and impact of the government's

case, and to the motivation and intent of the

defendants.

"3. Others involved in the Watergate operation

were not identified during the trial, when

they could have been by those testifying.

"4. The Watergate operation was not a CIA

operation. The Cubans may have been misled

by others into believing that it was a CIA

operation. I know for a fact that it was not.

"5. Some statements were unfortunately made by

a witness which left the Court with the

impression that he was stating untruths, or

withholding facts of his knowledge, when in

fact only honest errors of memory were

involved.

"6. My motivations were different than those of

the others involved, but were not limited

to, or simply those offered in my defense

during the



Indistinct document retyped
by
House Judiciary Committee
staff
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system, which faith. W.AS been sev.~~ 5 t ;7 c- damaged in this case I wil state the

following : '3 you :: ~~ t-. s time which I hope may be of help to you ..

.~~'' _S- _ C' justice in this case:

"1. There was political p-.] .;~~re applied to the

defendants LO ple; ~~; guilty and ' remain silent .

"2. Perjury occurred a;_--l.l_ '12 t--_a1 ln matters

highly mate,ial vo -;le - ---y s~~_ucture, oricntati

and impact OL tli wonee-e.t'-. case, and to the

motivation and iJI'~~ .16 r ~~'~~.e c rerdants.

"3. Others involved i.-t '''_ -:_~~ev~~--e ope-^ation swere
. .

not identified d-ur-,-s ~~ tR'eLX Yl'..en tney OGUld

- - have been by those fies-.-'~~-iLl~~e. @

"4~~ The AJatergate ope!:^~~ o.t -ss-r.o-- e. CI~~.
oreCation.

zThe Cubans may h<>.a De-.-.L misleg by others

into beiievina that i.t

. c,.-3~ation. I !~~now

for a fact that it svus l'CUP

't5. -Some statements l.cre -._.-::<)-.,un.:~..e'y
made by a

- witness which left thR 4'---_^/- ._Gln the ~~~~m.pression

that he szas stat-n~~l ~~X-F-:-~~ ns) or -\

;ithholdinO facts of his k~~.oxl_-1<,c; lJ~~.en -

~~l fact orliy ilones errors of}n~~m.ory tfere Jr~~.olve

o*~~j. My motivatior:s zuere di.::..t^a-i iite,~~ t'lGSn OL Che



others involved, bub l:^:^e not ~~~~r. ~~eX to, or

simply those off~~~~reQ in ~~~~i de.__nse
cux^ ino tlle
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trial. This is no L2U1 L OL my attorneys, b U OL the.-ie circumstances under which we had to

pre- lna-,e l.y teFense. t'Rollcx~~_~~~ sentellce, I \}OUJ d a2prec^~~ aL-e

the opportunit~~t to talk :~~ith ~~~~o~~~~ privately in ca<

~~mbers. Since I c2nnot .feel con_rdent in tallcing zqith an

FBI agellt, in testifyiz be£oXe c Grand Jury sshos-e U.S!

Axtorneys work Zor the Dopn~~:L=--Xe og Jrstice, or in

talkinv t~~vi.h otller goverr.ment rep_esantatives, such a

discussion with you -v70Uld be | of assit-anee to me. | ~~'I

h2x~~e .ot discussed tlle above with my attorneys as a

ma*~~or oE protection for than. ~~'I give .his staLement

freely and voluntarilyj fu11y reali. th22 1 m^y be

prosecuted for givino a false stat~~zent to ! a Judicncl

ofzicia1, ir the statenenes herein cre kmosvanblz untruc*

Tlle statanents are true and correct to t'ne best of my

kno~~;eledOe and belier.

J>mnes W. I<
IcCovd,

t.re-.-~~ill take a 20 r.linute recess and I will hear

any cm2ments frG.m. any attorneys on this.

(Briex recess talten at 10:10 a.m.)
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United States v. G. Gordon Liddy

_ (CR 74-117, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court Droceedings

March 7, 1974

March 14, 1974

May 10, 1974

May 24, 1974

Indictment filed charging the defendant
with two counts of refusing to testify
before the Special Subcommittee on
Intelligence of the House Committee on
Armed Services, which was investigating
the alleged involvement of the Central
Intelligence Agency in (1) the break-in
at the Democratic National Committee;
(2) any subsequent cover-up: and (3) the
burglary of the office of Dr. Lewis
Fielding.

The defendant enters a plea of not guilty
to the indictment.

Defendant found guilty on both counts.

Liddy sentenced to serve a prison term of six
months on each count, to run concurrently.
Suspended.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR TORE DISTRICT OF COLUS#I3IA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) i>
) Criminal No. And. 9+ t f

 v.

) Violation of 2 U.s.C. § l9r
GEORGE GORDON LIDDY , ) (COntemPt of Congress)

Defendant. )

INDICTtuNT
-

~he Grand Jury charges:

COUNT ONE

X,-

l. Pursuant to Section 121 of the Legislative

Reorganization Act of 1946, Public Law 601 t60 Stat. 822), as

amended, House Resolution 6, 93rd Congress, dated January 3,

1973, including clause 3 of Rule XI of the Rules of the House

of Representatives adopted therein, and House Resolution

185, 93rd Congress, dated February 21, 1973, the House of

Representatives was empowered to and did create the

Committee on Armed Services, having duties and powers as

set forth in said Rules and Resolutions.

2. Pursuant to House Resolution 185, 93rd Congress,

dated February 21, 1973, and Rule 6tc) of the Rules Governing

Procedure of the Committee on Armed Services, the Chairman

of the Committee on Armed Services, at a meeting of the

Committee held on February 27, 1973, established the Special

Subcommittee on Intelligence, and delegated to that

Subcommittee the Committee's authority "to make periodic

inquiries into all phases of intelligence activities
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within the Department of Defense and Within the

agencies established under the National Security Act, and

to make legislative recommendations when appropriate.'

3. The Central Intelligence Agency is an

agency established under Section 102 of the

National Security Act of 1947, Public Law 253 (61

Stat. 497).

4. Pursuant to House Resolution 185, 93rd

Congress, dated February 21, 1973, and a delegation of

authority from the Chairman of the Committee on Armed

Services to the Special Subcommittee on Intelligence, by

letter dated May 21, 1973, the Subcommittee, through its

Chairman, was empowered to compel the attendance and

testimony of witnesses, by subpoena or otherwise, and to

administer oaths to witnesses.

5. On or about May ll, 1973, pursuant to Rule

6(d) of the Rules Governing Procedure of tzhe Committee

on Armed Services and the directive of the Chairman of

the Committee, the Special Subcommittee on

Intelligence commenced hearings within its jurisdiction,

to wit, hearings into the alleged involvement of the

Central Intelligence Agency in (a) break-ins at, and

9 electronic surveillance of, the offices of the Democratic

National Committee located in the Watergate office

building in Washington, D. C., (b) any subsequent cover-up

of the identities of the persons who were responsible for,

participated in, and had knowledge of such activities, and (c)

the burglary of the office of Dr. Lewis J. Fielding, the

psychiatrist of Dr. Daniel Ellsber5, in Beverly Stills,

California on September 3, 1971.
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_ 6. On or about July 20, 1973, GEORGE GORDoq

BIDDY, the DEFENDANT, having lawfully been summoned as

a witness by the authority of-the House of Representatives,

as exercised by the Special Subcommittee on Intelligence of

the Committee on Armed Services, to give testimony upon

a matter under inquiry by the Subcommittee, appeared be-

fore the Subcommittee at an executive session being held

within the District of Columbia and was directed by the

Chairman of the Subcommittee to be sworn to testify, but

did then and there refuse to be sworn to testify, and

thereby did lfillfully make default.

(Title 2, United States Code, Section 192.)

COUNT TtiO

7. The Grand Jury realleges all of the

allegations of paragraphs l, 2, 3, 4, and 5 of Count

One of this Indictment.

8. On or about July 20, 1973, GEORGE -GORDON

BIDDY, the DEFENDS4T, appeared as a witness before the

special Subcommittee on Intelligence of the Committee on

Armed Services at an executive session within the-

District of Columbia to be asked certain questions

which were pertinent to the question under

inquiry by the Subcommittee, but did then and there

refuse to answer any question before the

Subcommittee.

{Title 2, United States Code, Section 192.)

^ TrueWBillo

Larch 7, 1974

LEo;4 JA'ORSKI
Special Prosecutor
zatergate Special Prosecution



Force
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United States v. Jeb Stuart M Cruder

* (CE 715-73, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

August 16, 1973

May 21, 1974

The defendant waives prosecution
by indictment.

Information filed charging the
defendant with one count of conspiracy
to unlawfully intercept wire and oral
communications and to obstruct justice
in connection with the break-in at the
offices of the Democratic National
Committee and the subsequent
investigations.

Copy of a letter filed dated August 16,
1973 from Archibald Cox to James Sharp
and James Bierbower advising that the
government would accept a guilty plea
from Mr. Magruder to a one count
indictment or information.

The defendant enters a plea of guilty
to the information.

Defendant sentenced to a prison term of 10
months to four years.
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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT w i97.i

FOR TEIE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
JAt'~mS F. DAVE't,CI^rk

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) Criminal NO, 7iS~ 73

v.

JEB STUART MAGRUDER

) Violation of la U.S.C. s 371
) (conspiracy to unlawfully inter-
) cept azire and oral communications,

to obstruct justice, and to defraud
the United States of America)

INFORMATION

The United States of America, by its Attorney, the

Special Prosecutor, Watergate Special Prosecution

Force, charges:

l. At all times material herein, the Democratic

National Committee, an unincorporated association, was

the organization responsible for conducting the affairs of

the Democratic Party of the United States. Its offices

were at the Watergate Office Building, 2600 Virginia

Avenue, N. W. in the District of Columbia.

2. At all times material herein, the Committee for

the Re-Blection of the President was conducting campaign

activities on behalf of the reselection of Richard M. Nixon

as President of the United States, with office and

headquarters at 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N. W. in the

District of Columbia.

3. At all times material herein, the United States

Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia and the

Federal Bureau of Investigation were parts of the

Department of Justice, an agency of the United States.

4. On June 5, 1972, a Grand Jury of the United States
District Court for the District of Columbia was duly
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impanelled and sworn, and at all times material herein

beginning June 23, 1972, the said Grand Jury seas

conducting an investigation in conjunction amity the

United States Attorney's Office for said District and the

Federal Bureau of Investigation to determine whether

violations of federal statutes had been committed in

the District of Columbia and elsewhere, involving

unlawful conspiracies (18 U.S.C. E 371), unlawful

interception of

wire and oral communications (18 U.S.C. § 2511), burglary

(22 D.C. Code 1801fblXand unlawful possession of

intercepting devices (22 D.C. Code 543ta]],all statutes of

the United States and of the District of Columbia, and to

identify the individual or individuals who had committed

such violations.

5. Fron May 1971 through November 1972, JEs

STUART MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, Bras the Deputy

Campaign Director of the Committee for the Re-Election of

the President. Thereafter, he became Executive Director of

the President's Inaugural Committee.

A. From May 1971 through November 1972 Serbert

Lloyd Porter was the Director of Scheduling for the
Committee

,

for the Re-Election of the President. Thereafter he becane

Assistant Executive Director of the President's Inaugural

Committee. JEB STUART MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, was his

immediate superior in both positions.

7. Beginning in or around November 1971 and

continuing thereafter through March 23, 1973, in the District

of Columbia and elsewhere, JEB STUART 2"2GRUDvR, the

DErF:iDXNT, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly did agree,

combines and
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conspire with co-conspirators unnamed herein to commit

offenses against the United States, to wit: (a) to

unlawfully obtain and use, by illegal means and for illegal

ends, information from the offices and headquarters of the

Democratic National Committee and from related political

entities and individuals, in violation of 18 U.s.C. § 2511 and

other statutes of the United States and the District of

Columbia; (b) to conceal, cover up, hinder, frustrate,

impair, impede and corruptly endeavor to influence,

obstruct, and impede the investigation, apprehension, and

conviction of certain of the individuals involved in the

planning, implementing and carrying out of the above

described activities, in violation of 18 U.S.C. EN 1503 and

1510; and (c) to defraud the United States of America and

its Departments and Agencies, and more particularly the

Department of Justice, by hindering, frustrating and

impairing the lawful functions of the said Department by

craft, deceit, and dishonest means, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

E 371.

8. It was a part of the conspiracy that J B STUART

MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, and others unnamed herein

would and did devise, implement, and carry out a

strategy to unlawfully break into the above described

headquarters of the Democratic National Committee, and

the offices of related political entities and individuals,

and unlawfully intercept various wire and oral

communications taking place in said offices.

9. It was a further part of said conspiracy that JEB
STUART MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, and other co-conspirators
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unnamed herein would meet at divers places in the

District of Columbia, and elsewhere, to devise means

of carrying out the unlawful activities described in the

preceding paragraph and to approve and secure funds

necessary for such operation.

SO. It was a further part of the conspiracy that JEs

STUART MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, and other co-consp-

~rators unnamed herein would purchase equipment and

recruit personnel necessary to carry out the illegal

activities described in paragraph eight (8) above.

- 11. As a part of the conspiracy, and in carrying out the

objects thereof, certain of the co-conspirators unnamed

herein did in May and June of 1972 break into and

intercept wire and oral communications in the

headquarters of the Democratic National Committee. On or

about June 17, 1972, certain of the participants in this

activity were apprehended at the scene of this break-in.

12. It was a further part of said conspiracy that JEB

STUART MAGRUDER, the DEFENDANT, and other co-

conspirators unnamed herein, in order to conceal the

scope and

~ .

magnitude of the conspiracy and other unlawful activities,

would and did devise, implement, and carry out a strategy,

plan, and scheme to impede, impair and obstruct the joint

investigation by the Grand Jury and the Department of

Justice into the above described illegal activities by the

following means, among others: (a) influencing

witnesses to give false, deceptive, and misleading

testimony; (b) concealing evidence relevant to matters •>

~hich were the subject of the investigation; and (c) giving

false,
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deceptive, and misleading testimony on matters

relevant to the investigation. It was a further part of

the conspiracy that certain co-conspirators would

misrepesent that the Central Intelligence Agency had an

interest in limiting the investigation.

13 It was a further part of said conspiracy that in

order to implement the strategy, plan and scheme referred

to in paragraph twelve (12) hereof, JEB STUART MAGRUDER,

the DEFENDANT, and the co-conspirators would and did

participate in meetings to compose, develop and prepare

the false, deceptive and misleading statements and

testimony to be given to the Federal Bureau of

Investigation, United States Attorney's Office for the

District of Columbia, the Grand Jury and ultimately in the

United States District Court for the District of Columbia

14. It was a further part of said conspiracy that

certain co-conspirators would and did covertly raise,

acquire, transmit, distribute and pay cash funds for

the benefit of the individuals named in the indictment in

Criminal Case No 1827-72 in the United States District

Court for the District of Columbia, both prior to and

subsequent to the-return of the indictment on September

15, 1972, for the purpose of concealing the identities of

other participants in the violations charged in said

indictment and the scope of these and related activities

15 In furtherance of, and in order to effectuate the

objects of the aforesaid conspiracy, JEB STUART DEGRADER,

the DEFENDANT, and the other co-conspirators unnamed

herein did perform and did cause to be performed the

following overt acts, among others, in

Columbia:





Overt Acts

1. on or about January 27, 1972, JED STUART

MAGRUDER. attended a meeting at an office in the

Department of Justice in the District of Columbia.

2. On or about February 4, 1972, JEB STUART

MAGRUDER attended a meeting at an office in the

Department of Justice in the District of Columbia.

3. On or about April 12, 1972, $65,000 in cash was

delivered to James McCord by one of the co-conspirators

to be used for the purpose of purchasing equipment to be

used in furtherance of the conspiracy.

4. On or about June 17, 1972, James McCord, Bernard

Barker, Frank Sturgis, Virgilio Gonzales, and Eugenio

Martinez unlawfully entered the headquarters of the

Democratic National Committee at the Watergate Office

Building.

5. On or about June 19, 1972, JEB STUART MAGRUDER

attended a meeting in an apartment in the District

of Columbia.

6. On or about June 19, 1972, JEB STUART MAGRUDER

removed from an office in the District of Columbia certain

writings containing summaries of unlawfully intercepted

telephone conversations.

7. Around or before July 19, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, JEB STUART MAGRUDER met with Herbert Lloyd

Porter to review Porter's proposed statement to agents

of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

8. On or about July 20, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, JEB STUART MAGRUDER gave a false, deceptive

and misleading statement to agents of the Federal

Bureau of Investigation.
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9. On or about August 10, 1972, Herbert Lloyd

Porter testified falsely before a Federal Grand Jury

sitting in the District of Columbia

10. Around or before August 16, 1972, in the District

of Columbia, JEB STUART MAGRUDER attended meetings on

the fourth floor of 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.§J. where

the false, misleading and deceptive statement previously

made by JEB STUART MAGRUDER to the Federal Bureau of

Investigation, was further refined and developed in

preparation for his appearance before the Grand Jury.

11. On or about August 16, 1972, in the District of
Columbia, JET STUART MAGRUDER testified falsely before

12. On or about September 12, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, JEB STUART MAGRUDER attended a meeting on the

fourth floor of 1701 Pennsylvania Avenue, N. W. to compose

and develop Magruder's proposed testimony in preparation

for another appearance before the Grand Jury.

13. On or about September 13, 1972, in the District

of Columbia, JEB STUART MAGRUDER testified falsely

before the Grand Jury.

14. On or about January 23, 1973, in the

District Court for the District of Columbia, JEB

STUART MAGRUDER gave false, deceptive and

misleading material testimony during the trial of

Criminal Case No. 1827-72, entitled United States v,

Gordon Liddy, et al.

15. On or about January 23, 1973, in the District

Court for the District of Columbia, Herbert Lloyd Porter

gave false, deceptive and misleading material

testimony
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during the trial of Criminal Case No. 1927-72, entitled

United States v. Gordon Liddy, et al.

(In violation of Title 18 United States Code s 371.)

ARSBALD COX 4~~ WS f
o x
Special Prosecutor
Watergate Special
Prosecution
Force
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\X.NIII~~(i,Xll-SI't:tI,XI l'll()Sl-([JI-I()X i()f{CL
llrliled~~statusZkptlrtincllt()tJubticc

1425 K Street N.W.'\V.
NV:Ishirlgtoll, D C 200!)5

August 16, 1973

~~ 1 1 ~~ ~~

as d L .S~~ do

JA>.,1tS F. D3aV--'f, I'd

James Sharp, Esq. CA')J1-/M~~- 7/) ~ 73
James Bierbower, Esa.
Bierbower & Rockefeller
1625 K Street, N. W.
Washington, D. C.

Gentlemen:

The Government will accept a guilty plea from Mr. Jeb Stuart
Magruder to a one count indictment or information charging a
conspiracy to unlawfully intercept wire and oral communications, to
obstruct justice and to defraud the United States. This will dispose of
all other potential charges against your client which might otherwise
arise out of the investigation of the so-called Watergate incident and
the alleged cover-up relating thereto, including without limitation
possible violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act and the
Corrupt Practices Act. The Government will join with you in urging
that Mr. Magruder's sentencing be deferred until after the trial of
those implicated by testimony already given by Mr. Magruder and
that Stir. Magruder be permitted to remain on bond or on
recognizance pending sentence in order to facilitate his cooperation
with the Government.

e

This understanding is predicated upon Mr.. Magruder
complete cooperation with the Government, including the
im[unediate r full and truthf ul disclosure of all information in his
possession. Ultimately, of course, he will be required to testify as a
witness for the Government in any and all cases with respect to
which he may have relevant information. The extent of his
cooperation will be brought to the Court's attention by the
Government before sentencing.



Sincerely,

F~~~~~~~~Zg g° X

Archibald Cox
Special Prosecutor
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United States v. John Mitchell, Harry R. Haldeman,
John Ehrlichman. Charles Colson, Robert Mardian.

Kenneth Parkinson Gordon
Strachan

.. .

(CR 74-llO, United States District Court for the
District of Columbia)

Major court proceedings

March l, 1974

March 6, 1974

March 9, 1974

Indictment filed charging all defendants
with one count of conspiracy (Count l).
In addition, Mitchell charged with one
count of obstruction of justice (Count
2); two counts of making false
declaration to Grand Jury or Court
(Counts 4, 5); one count of perjury
(Count 6); and one count of making false
statement to agents of the FBI (Count
3). Haldeman charged with one count of
obstruction of justice (Count 2); and
three counts of perjury (Counts 7, 8, 9).
Ehrlichman charged with one count of
obstruction of justice (Count 2); one
count of making false statement to
agents of the FBI (Count 10); and two
counts of making false declaration to a
Grand Jury or Court (Counts ll, 12);
Strachan charged with one count of
obstruction of justice (Count 2); and one
count of making false declaration to a
Grand Jury or Court (Count 13). Colson
and Parkinson were charged with one
count of obstruction of justice (Count
2).

Order issued setting trial date of
September 9, 1974.

The defendants enter a plea of not
guilty.
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April 16, 1974

~~ .

April 18, 1974

May 1, 1974

May 20,
1974

May 24,
1974

May 31,
1974

June 21, 1974

July 24, 1974

Motion filed by Watergate Special
Prosecutor requesting an order directing the
issuance of a subpoena to the President for
tape recordings and other documents
necessary for the trial.

Order issued granting motion for issuance of
a subpoena to the President.

Motion filed by Counsel for the President to
quash subpoena.

Order issued denying President's motion to
quash and directing subpoenaed materials
be turned over to the Special Prosecutor.

Notice of appeal to Judge Sirica's order of
May 20, 1974 filed by Counsel for the
President.

Application to the United States Supreme
Court for Writ of Certiorari and suggestion of
expedited schedule filed by the Special
Prosecutor.

Application for writ granted.

Indictment dismissed as to Charles



Colson after his sentencing in CR 74-116.

Order issued by Supreme Court affirming
lower court decision directing the
President to turn over the subpoenaed
tape recordings and related documents.
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FILED IN OPEN CO!)*
~~T

MAR 1-1974
JAMES f. DAVEY'{,

Clerk

UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.

)

 UNITED STATES-OF AMERICA ) . w

) Criminal No. /4 1 tO
V. ,

) Violation of 18 U.S.C.
JOHN N. MITCHELL, HARRY R. ) §§ 371, 1001, 1503, 1521,
HALDE'.AN, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, ) and 1623 (conspiracy,
CHARLES Xr. COLSON, ROBERT C. ) false statements to a
MARDIAN, KENNETH W. PARKINSON,) government agency, ob and
GORDON STRACHAN, ) struction of justice,

Defendants.

INDICTMEN
T

The Grand Jury charges:

Introduction

j perjury and false )
declarations.)

FIL Ee
t lJ,^,
;Fv a or * vrv

—~~-,I, C'1\. A;

1. On or about June 17, 197?, Bernard L. Barker,

Virgilio R. Gonzalez, Eugenio R. Martinez, James W. McCord,

Jr. and Frank L. Sturgis were arrested in the offices of the

Democratic National Committee, located in the Watergate

office building, Washington, D. C., while attempting to

photograph documents and repair a surreptitious electronic

listening device which had previously been placed in those

offices unlawfully.

.

material herein, the United



States Attorney's Office for the
District of Columbia and

 . .

.

the Federal Bureau of Investigation were parts of the

Department of Justice, a department and agency of the

United States, and-the Central Intelligence Agency was an

agency of the United States.

3. Beginn ing  on  or  about  June 17 ,  1972,  and  cont inu ing  up  to  and  inc lud ing  the  date  of  the  f i l ing  of  th is
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indictment, the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the

United States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia

were conducting an investigation, in conjunction with a Grand

Jury of the United States District Court for the District of

Columbia which had been duly empanelled and sworn on or

about June 5, 1972, to determine whether violations of 18

U.S.C. 371, 2511 and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other

statutes of the United States and of the District of

Columbia, had been committed in the District of Columbia

and elsewhere, and to identify the individual or individuals

who had committed, caused the commission of, and

conspired to commit such viola

tions.

4. On or about September 15, 1972, in connection

with the said investigation, the Grand Jury returned an

indictment in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United



States District Court for the District of Columbia charging

Bernard L. Barker, Virgilio R. Gonzalez, E. Howard Hunt, Jr.,

G. Gordon Liddy, Eugenio R. Martinez, James W. McCord, Jr.,

and Frank L. Sturgis with conspiracy, burglary and unlawful

endeavor to intercept wire communi-cations.

5. From in or about January 1969, to on or about

March 1, 1972, JOHN N. MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT, was

Attorney General of the United States. From on or about

April 9, 1972, to on or about June 30, 1972, he was Campaign

Director of the Committee to Re-Elect the President.

6. At all times material herein up to on or about

April 30, 1973, HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the DEFENDANT, was

Assistant to the President of 
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7. At all times material herein up to on or
~~ .

about April 30, 1973, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, the

DEFENDANT, was Assistant for Domestic Affairs to the

President of the United States.

8. At all times material herein up to on or about

March 10, 1973, CHARLES W. COLSON, the DEFENDANT, was

Special Counsel to the President of the United States.

9. At all times material herein, ROBERT C. MARDIAN,

the DEFENDANT, was an official of the Committee to Re-

Elect the President. .

10. From on or about June 21, 1972, and at all times

material herein, KENNETH W. PARKINSON, the DEFENDANT, was

an attorney representing the Committee to Re-Elect the

President.

11. At all times material herein up to in or about

November 1972, GORDON STRACHAN, the DEFENDANT, was a

Staff Assistant to HARRY R. HALDEMAN at the White House.

Thereafter he became General Counsel to the United

States Information Agency.

.

COUNT ONE

12. From on or about June 17, 1972, up to and including

the date of the filing of this indictment, in . the District of

Columbia and elsewhere, JOHN N. MITCHELL, HARRY. HALDEMAN,

JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN, CHARLES W. COLSON, ROBERT C. MARDIAN,

KENNETH W. PARKINSON and GORDON STRACHAN, the DEFENDANTS,

and other persons to the Grand Jury known and unknown,

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly did combine, conspire,

confederate and agree together and with each other,to
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commit offenses against the United States, to wit, to obstruct justice in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1503, to make false

statements to a government agency in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 100l, to make false declarations atio..s in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1623, and to defraud the United States and

Agencies and Departments thereof, to wit, the Central Intelligence Agency

(CIA), the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and the Department of

Justice, of the Government's right to have the officials of these Departments

and Agencies transact their official business honestly and impartially, free

from corruption, fraud, improper and undue influence, dishonesty, unlawful

impairment and obstruction, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sec

 tion 371. -

13. It was a part of the conspiracy that the conspirators would

corruptly influence, obstruct and impede, and corruptly endeavor to

influence, obstruct and impede, the due administration of justice in

connection with the investigation referred to in paragraph

three (3) above and in connection with the trial of Criminal Case No.

1827-72 in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia,

for the purpose of concealing and causing to be concealed the identities of

the persons who were responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge

of (a) the activities which were the

s
s

ubject- of the investigation and trial, and (b)) other

illegal and improper activities.
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14. It was further a part of the conspiracy that

the conspirators would knowingly make and cause to be

made false statements to the FBI and false material

statements and declarations under oath in proceedings

._ ancillary to the Grand Jury and a Court of

the United States, for the purposes stated in

paragraph thirteen (13) above.

15. It was further a part of the conspiracy that

the conspirators would, by deceit, craft, trickery and

dishonest means, defraud the United States by

interfering with and obstructing the lawful

governmental functions of the CIA, in that the

conspirators would induce the CIA to provide financial

assistance to persons who were subjects of the

investigation referred to in paragraph three (3) above,

for the purposes stated in paragraph thirteen (13)

above.

was further a part of the conspiracy that

the conspirators would, by deceit, craft, trickery and

dishonest means, defraud the United States by

interfering with and obstructing the lawful

governmental functions of the FBI and the Department

of Justice, in that the conspirators would obtain and

attempt to obtain from the FBI and the Department of

Justice information concerning the investigation

referred to in paragraph three (3) above, for the purposes

stated in paragraph thirteen (13) above.

17. Among the means by which the conspirators
would carry out the aforesaid conspiracy were the follow

ing:
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la) The conspirators would direct G.

Gordon Liddy to seek the __ of Richard G.

Kleindienst, then Attorney General of the

United States, in obtaining the release from

the District of Columbia jail of one or more of

the persons who had

offices of the Democratic National Committee

in the Watergate office building in Washington,

D. C., and G. Gordon Liddy would seek such

assistance from Richard G. Kleindienst.

(b)) The conspirators would at various

stroy, and cause to be removed,

concealed, altered and destroyed,

documents, papers, records and objects.

(c) The conspirators would 

assist and facilitate the giving of false,

deceptive, evasive and misleading statements

and testimony.

(d) The conspirators would --b e false,

misleading, evasive and deceptive

statements and testimony.

(e) The conspirators would covertly raise,

acquire, transmit, distribute and pay cash

funds to and for the benefit of the

defendants in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in

the United States District Court for the

District
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of Columbia, both prior to and

subsequent to the return of the

indictment on September 15, 1972.

(f) The conspirators would make and

cause to be made offers of leniency,

executive clemency and other benefits to

E. Howard Hunt, Jr., G. Gordon Liddy,

James W. McCord, Jr., and Jeb S.

Magruder.

(g) The conspirators would
attempt to obtain CIA financial
assistance for

persons who were subjects of the

investigation referred to in paragraph

three (3) above.

(h) The conspirators would obtain information from

the FBI and the Department of Justice concerning the

progress of the investigation referred to in paragraph

three (3) above. 18. In furtherance of the conspiracy,

and to effect the objects thereof, the following overt

acts, among others, were committed in the District

ofColumbia and elsewhere:

OVERT ACTS 1. On or about June 17, 1972,

JOHN N. MITCHELL met with ROBERT C. MARDIAN in or

about Beverly Hills, California, and requested MARDIAN

to tell G. Gordon Liddy to seek the assistance of Richard

G. Kleindienst, then Attorney General of the United

States, in obtaining the release of one or more of the

persons arrested in connection with the Watergate

break-in
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2. On or about June 18, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, GORDON STRACHAN destroyed documents on

the instructions of HARRY R. HALDEMAN

. 3. On or about June 19, 1972, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

met with John W. Dean, III, at the White House in the

District of Columbia, at which time EHRLICHMAN directed

Dean to tell G. Gordon Liddy that E. Howard Hunt, Jr.,

should leave the United States.

4. On or about June 19, 1972, CHARLES W. COLSON

and JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN net with John W. Dean, III, at the

White House in the District of Columbia, at which time

EHRLICHMAN directed Dean to take possession of the

contents of E. Howard Hunt, Jr.'s safe in the Executive

Office Building. .

5. On or about June 19, 

MARDIAN and JOHN N. MITCHELL met with Jeb S. Magruder

at MITCHELL'S apartment in the District of Columbia, at

which time MITCHELL suggested that Magruder destroy

documents from Magruder's files.

6. On or about June 20, 1972, G. Gordon Liddy

met with Fred C. LaRue and ROBERT C. MARDIAN at LaRue'

5 apartment in the District of Columbia, at which time

Liddy told LaRue and MARDIAN that certain

commitments had been made to and for the benefit of

Liddy and other persons involved in the Watergate

break-in.

7. On or about June 24, 1972, JOHN N. MITCHELL and

ROBERT C. MARDIAN met with John W. Dean, III, at 1701

Pennsylvania Avenue in the District of Columbia, at which

time MITCHELL and MARDIAN suggested to Dean that the

CIA be requested to provide covert funds for the

assistance of the persons involved in the Watergate

break-in.
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8. On or about June 26, 1972, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

met with John W. Dean, III, at the White House in the

District of Columbia, at which time EHRLICHMAN;

approved a suggestion that Dean ask General Vernon A.

Walters, Deputy Director of the CLA, whether the CIA

could USE funds to pay the bail and salaries of the

persons involved in the Watergate break-in.

9. On or about June 28, 1972, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN

had a conversation with John W. Dean, III, at the White

House in the District of Columbia, during which EHRLICHMAN

approved the use of Herbert W. Kalmbach to raise cash

funds with which to make covert payments to and for the

benefit of the persons involved in the Watergate break-in.

--- .

10. On or about July 6, 1972, KENNETH W.

PARKINSON had a conversation with William O. Bittman in

or about the District of Columbia, during which

PARKINSON told Bittman that "Rivers is OK to talk to. n

11. On or about July 7, 1972, Anthony Ulasewicz

delivered approximately $25,000 in cash to William O.

Bittman 815 Connecticut Avenue, N. W., in the District of

Columbia.

12. In or about mid-July, 1972, JOHN N. MITCHELL and

KENNETH W. PARKINSON met with John W. Dean, II}, at 1701

Pennsylvania Avenue, N. W. in the District of Columbia, at

which time MITCHELL advised Dean to obtain FBI reports

of the investigation into the Watergate break-in for

PARKINSON and others.

13. On or about July 17, 1972, Anthony Ulasewicz

delivered approximately S40,000 in cash to Dorothy

Hunt at Washington National Airport.
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14. On or about July 17, 1972, Anthony Ulasewicz

delivered approximately $8,000 in cash to G. Gordon

Liddy at Washington National Airports

15. On or about July 21, 1972, ROBERT C. MARDIAN

met with John W. Dean, III, at the White House in the

District of Columbia, at which time MARDIAN examined

FBI reports of the investigation concerning the

Watergate break-in.

16. On or about July 26, 1972, JOHN D.EHRLICHMAN met

with Herbert W. Kalmbach at the White House in the District

of Columbia, at which time EHRLICHMAN told Kalmbach

that Kalmbach had to raise funds with which to make

payments to and for the benefit of the persons involved in

the Watergate break-in, and that it was necessary

ing and payments
secret.

17. In or about late July or early August, 1972,

Anthony Ulasewicz made a delivery of approximately

S43,000 in cash at Washington National Airport.

18. In or about late July or early August, 1972,

Anthony Ulasewicz made a delivery of approximately S18,

000 in cash at Washington National Airport.

19. On or about August 29, 1972, CHARLES W. COLSON

had a conversation with John W. Dean, III, during which

Dean advised COLSON not to send a memorandum to the

authorities investigating the Watergate break-in.

20. On or about September 19, 1972, Anthony

Ulasewicz delivered approximately S53,500 in cash

to Dorothy Hunt at Washington National Airport.

21. On or about October 13, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for the delivery of

approximately S20,000 in cash to William O. Bittman.
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22. On or about November 13, 1972, _. trict of

Columbia, E. Howard Hunt, Jr., had a telephone

conversation with CHARLES W COLSON, during which Hunt

discussed with COLSON the need to make additional pay- .

ments to and for the benefit of the defendants in

Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United States District

Court for the District of Columbia.

23. In or about mid-November, 1972, CHARLES W.

COLSON met with John W. Dean, III, at the White House

in the District of Columbia, at which time COLSON gave

Dean a tape recording of a telephone conversation

between

COLSON and E. Howard Hunt, Jr.

24. On or about November 15, 1972, John W.

Dean, III, met with JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN and HARRY R.

HALDEMAN at Camp David, Maryland, at which time

Dean played for

. .

EHRLICHMAN and HALDEMAN a tape recording of a
telephone conversation between CHARLES W. COLSON and E.
Howard Hunt,

Jr.

25. On or about November 15, 1972, John W. Dean,

III, met with JOHN N. MITCHELL in New York City, at

which time Dean played for MITCHELL a tape recording of

a telephone conversation between CHARLES W. COLSON and

E. Howard Hunt, Jr.

26. On or about December 1, 1972, KENNETH W.

PARKINSON met with John W. Dean, III, at the White

House in the District of Columbia, at which time

PARKINSON gave Dean a list of anticipated expenses of

the defendants during the trial of Criminal Case No. 1827-

72 in the United States District Court for the District of

Columbia.
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27. In or about early December, 1972, HARRY R.

HALDEMAN had a telephone conversation with John W.

Dean, III, during which HALDEMAN approved the use of a

portion of a cash fund of approximately $350,000, then

being held under HALDEMAN's control, to make additional

payments to and for the benefit of the defendants in

Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United States District

Court for the District of Columbia.

28. In or about early December, 1972, GORDON

STRACHAN met with Fred C. LaRue at LaRue's apartment in

the District of Columbia, at which time STRACHAN

delivered approximately $50,000 in cash to LaRue. 0

29. In or about early December, 1972, in the Dis

of Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for the delivery of

approximately S40,000 in cash to William O. Bittman.

30. On or about January 3, 1973, CHARLES W. COLSON

met with JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN and John W. Dean, III, at

the White House in the District of Columbia, at which time

COLSON, EHRLICHMAN and Dean discussed the need to make

assurances to E. Howard Hunt, Jr. concerning the length of

time E. Howard Hunt, Jr. would have to spend in jail if he

were convicted in Criminal Case No. 182772 in the

United States District Court for the District of Columbia.

31. In or about early January, 1973, HARRY R.

HALDEMAN had a conversation with John W. Dean, III,

during which HALDEMAN approved the use of the balance

of the cash fund referred to in Overt Act No. 27 to make

additional payments to and for the benefit of the

defendants in Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in the United

States District Court for the District of Columbia.
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32. In or about early January, 1973, GORDON

STRACHAN met with Fred C. LaRue at LaRue's

apartment in the District of Columbia, at which

time STRACHAN delivered approximately $300,000 in

cash to LaRue.

33. In or about early January, 1973, JOHN N.

MITCHELL had a telephone conversation with John W.

Dean, III, during which MITCHELL asked Dean to have

John C. Caulfield give an assurance of executive

clemency to James W. McCord, Jr.

34. TD or about mid-January, 1973, in the District of

Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for the delivery of

approximately $20,000 in cash to a representative of G.

Gordon Liddy.

35. On or about February 11, 1973, in Rancho La Costa,

California, JOHN D. EHRLICHMAN and HARRY R. HALDEMAN met

with John W. Dean, III, and discussed the need to raise

money with which to make additional payment to and

for the benefit of the defendants in Criminal Case No.

1827-72 in the United States District Court for the District

of Columbia -

- 36. In or about late February, 1973, in the District of

Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for the delivery of

approximately $25,000 in cash to William O. Bittman.

37. In or about late February, 1973, in the District

of Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for the delivery of

approximately S35,000 in cash to William O. Bittman.

38. On or about March 16, 1973, E. Howard Hunt,

Jr., met with Paul O'Brien at 815 Connecticut Avenue,

N. W. in the District of Columbia, at which time Hunt

told O'Brien that Hunt wanted approximately

S120,000.
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39. On or about March 19, 1973, JOHN D.

EHRLICHMAN had a conversation with John W. Dean,

III, at the White House in the District of Columbia,

during which EHRLICHMAN told Dean to inform JOHN N.

MITCHELL about the fact that E. Howard Hunt, Jr. had

asked for approximately $120,000.

40. On or about March 21, 1973, from

approximately 11:15 a.m.. to approximately noon, HARRY

R. HALDEMAN and John W. Dean, III, attended a meeting at

the White House in the District of Columbia, at which time

there was a discussion about the fact that E. Howard

Hunt, Jr. had asked for approximately S120,000.

41. On or about March 21, 1973, at approximately

12:30 p.m., HARRY R. HALDEMAN had a telephone conver-

. sation with JOHN N. MITCHELL.

42. On or about the early afternoon of March 21,

1973, JOHN N. MITCHELL had a telephone conversation

with Fred C. LaRue during which MITCHELL authorized

LaRue to make a payment of approximately S75,000 to

and for the benefit of E. Howard Hunt, Jr. - .

43. On or about the evening of March 21, 1973,

in the District of Columbia, Fred C. LaRue arranged for

the delivery of approximately $75,000 in cash to

William O. Bittman.

44. On or about March 22, 1973, JORN D. EHRLICHMAN,

HARRY R. HALDEMAN, and John W. Dean, III, met with JOHN

N. MITCHELL at the White House in the District of Columbia,

at which time MITCHELL assured EHRLICHMAN that E.

Howard Hunt, Jr. was not a "problem" any longer.
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45. On or about March 22, 1973, JOHN D.

EHRLICHMAN had a conversation with Egil Krogh at

the White House in the District of Columbia, at which

time EHRLICH!XhN assured Krogh that EHRLICHMAN

did not believe that E. Howard Hunt, Jr. would

reveal certain matters.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)
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COUNT TWO

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. From on or about June 17, 1972, up to and including

the date of the filing of this indictment, in the District of

Columbia, and elsewhere, JOHN N. MITCHELL, HARRY R.

HALDEMAN, JOHN D. ehrlichman, CHARLES W. COLSON, KENNETH

W. PARKINSON and GORDON STRACHAN, the DEFENDANTS,

unlawfully, willfully and knowingly did corruptly influence,

obstruct and impede, and did corruptly endeavor to

influence,

.. ,

obstruct and impede the due administration of justice in

connection with an investigation being conducted by- the

Federal Bureau of Investigation and the United States

Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia, in

conjunction with a Grand Jury of the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia, and in

connection-with the trial of Criminal Case No. 1827-72 in

the United States District Court for the District of

Columbia, by making cash payments and offers of other

benefits to and for the benefit of the defendants in

Criminal Case No.

. . ,

1827-72 in the United States District Court for the District

of Columbia, and to others, both prior to and subsequent to

the return of the indictment on September 15, 1972, for the

purpose of concealing and causing to be concealed the

identities of the persons who were responsible for,

participated in, and had knowledge of the activities which

were the subject of the investigation and trial, and by other

means.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1503 and 2 )
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OUNT THREE

The Grand Jury further charges:

. On or about July 5, 1972, in the District of Columbia,

JOHN N. MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT, did knowingly and

willfully make false, fictitious and fraudulent statements

and representations to agents of-the Federal Bureau of

Investigation, Department of Justice, which Department

was then conducting an investigation into a matter within

its jurisdiction, namely, whether violations of 18 U.S.C.

371, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other statutes

of the United States and the District of Columbia, had

been committed in the District of Columbia and elsewhere

in connection with the break-in at the Democratic

National Committee Headquarters at the Watergate office

building on June 17, 1972, and to identify the individual

or individuals who had committed, caused the commission

of, and conspired to commit such violations, in that he

stated that he had no knowledge of the break-in at

the Democratic National Committee Headquarters

other than what he had read in newspaper accounts of

that incident.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.}
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COUNT FOUR
..

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about September 14, 1972, in the District of

Columbia, JOHN N. MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT, having duly taken an

oath that he would testify truthfully, and while testifying in a

proceeding before the June, 1972 Grand Jury, a Grand Jury of the

United States, duly empanelled and sworn in the United States

District Court for the District of Columbia, did knowingly make false

material declarations as hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the June, 1972 Grand Jury

of the United States District Court for the District of Columbia was

conducting an investigation in conjunction with the United States

Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia and the Federal Bureau

of Investigation to determine whether violations of Title i8, United

States Code, Sections 371, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of Other

statutes of the United States and of the District of Columbia had

been committed in the District of Columbia and elsewhere, and to

identify the individual or individuals who had committed, caused

the commission of, and conspired to commit such violations.

3. It was material to the said investigation that the said

Grand Jury ascertain the identity and motives of the individual or

individuals who were responsible for, participated in, and had

knowledge of unlawful entries into, and electronic surveillance of,

the offices of the Democratic National Committee located in the

Watergate office building in Washington, _. _., ~~
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4. At the time and place alleged, JOHN N. MITCHELL,

the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath at
a

proceeding before the said Grand Jury, did knowingly declare

with respect to the material matters alleged in paragraph
3 as follows:

Q. Was there any program, to your knowledge,
at the Committee, or any ef f ort made to organize a
covert or clandestine operation, basically, you
know, illegal in nature, to get information or to
gather intelligence about the activities of any of
the Democratic candidates for public office or
any activities of the Democratic Party?

A. Certainly not, because, if there had been I
would have shut it off as being entirely non-
productive a. that particular time of the campaign.

Q. Did you have any knowledge,
direct or indirect of Mr. T : A J.. w ~~ me, ,, ^ i_

__ ______ of Mr . Liddy's a activities respect———

to any intelligence gathering effort with respect
to the activities of the Democratic candidates
or its Party? ~

A. None whatsoever, because I didn't know
there was anything going on of that nature, if
there was So I wouldn't anticipate having
heard anything about his activities in connec. .

tion with lt.

5* The underscored portions of the declarations

quoted in paragraph 4, made by JOHN N. MITCHELL, the
DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation and, as he
then and

there well knew, were
false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.)
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COUNT FIVE

< The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about April 20, 1973, in the District

of Columbia, JOHN N. MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT, having duly

taken an oath that he would testify truthfully, and while

testifying in a proceeding before the June, 1972 Grand Jury,

a Grand Jury of the United States, duly empanelled and sworn

in the United States District Court for the District of

Columbia, did knowingly make false material declarations as

hereinafter set forth.

2. At the time and place alleged, the June, 1972

Grand Jury of the United States District Court for the

District of Columbia was conducting an investigation in

conjunction with the United States Attorney's Office for

the District of Columbia and the Federal Bureau of

Investigation to determine whether violations of Title 18,

United States Code, Sections 371, 2511, and 22 D.C. Code

1801(b), and of other statutes of the United States and of

the District of Columbia had been committed in the District

of Columbia and elsewhere, and to identify the individual

or individuals who had committed, caused the commission

of, and conspired to commit such violations.

3. It was material to the said investigation that

the said Grand Jury ascertain the identity and motives of

the individual or individuals who were responsible for,

participated in, and had knowledge of efforts to conceal,

and to cause to be concealed information relating to

unlawful entries into, and electronic surveillance of, the

offices of the Democratic National Committee located in

the Watergate office building in Washington, D. C., and

related activities.
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4. At the time and place alleged, JOHN N.

MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness

under oath at a proceeding before the said Grand

Jury, did knowingly _

.. respect to the material matters

alleged in paragraph 3 as follows:

Q. Did Mr. LaRue tell you that Mr. Liddy
had confessed to him?

A. No, I don't recall that, no.

Q. Did Mr. Mardian tell you that he'd
confessed to him?

A. No.

Q. Do you deny that?

A. Pardon me?

Q. Do you deny that?

A. I have no recollection of that.
. .

* * *

Q. So Mr. Mardian did not report to you that
Mr. Liddy had confessed to him?

A. Not to my recollection, Mr. Glanzer.

Q. That would be something that you would
remember, if it happened, wouldn't you?

o A. Yes, I would.

* * *

Q. I didn't ask you that. I asked you were you
told by either Mr. Mardian or Mr. LaRue or anybody
else, at the Committee, prior to June 28th, 1972,
that Mr Liddy had told them that he was involved
in the Watergate break-in?

A. I have no such recollection.

5. The underscored portions of the declarations



quoted in paragraph 4, made by JOHN N. MITCHELL, the

DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation and, as he

then and there well knew, were false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.)
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COUNT SIX

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about July 10 and July 11, 1973, in the

District of Columbia, JOHN N. MITCHELL, the DEFENDANT,

having duly taken an oath before a competent tribunal, to

wit, the Select Committee on Presidential Campaign

Activities, a duly created and authorized Committee of the

United States Senate conducting official hearings and

inquiring into a matter in which a law of the United States

authorizes an oath to be administered, that he would

testify truly, did willfully, knowingly and contrary to such

oath state material matters hereinafter set forth which he

did not believe to be true.

2. 

Committee was conducting an investigation and study,

pursuant to the provisions of Senate Resolution 60 adopted

by the United States Senate on February 7, 1973, of the

extent, if any, to which illegal, improper or unethical

activities were engaged in by any persons, acting either

individually or in combination with others, in the

presidential election of 1972, or in any related campaign or

canvass conducted by or in behalf of any person seeking

nomination or election as the candidate of any political

party for the office of President of the United States in

such election, for the purpose of determining whether in its

judgment any occurrences which might be revealed by the

investigation and study indicated the necessity or

desirability of the enactment of new legislation to

safeguard the electoral process by which the President of

the United States is chosen.
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3. It was material to the said investigation and

study that the said Committee ascertain the identity and

motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of

efforts to conceal, and to cause to be concealed

information relating to (a) unlawful entries into, and

electronic surveillance o', the offices of the Democratic

National Committee located in the Watergate office

building in Washington, D. C., and (b) related activities,

through such means as the destruction of documents and

other evidence of said facts.

4. At the times and place alleged, JOHN N. MITCHELL,

the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before

the said Committee, did willfully and knowingly

. .

. .

state with respect to the material matters alleged
in para
graph 3 as
follows:

July 10, 1973:

Mr. Dash. Was there a meeting in your
apartment on the evening that you arrived in
Washington on June 19, attended by Mr..
LaRue, Mr. Mardian Mr. Dean, Mr.. Magruder

Mr. Mitchell. Magruder and myself,
that is correct.

. . .

Mr. Dash. Do you recall the purpose of
that meeting, the discussion that took place
there?

Ms. Mitchell. I recall that we had been ~
traveling all day and, of course, we had very
little information about what the current
status was o f the entry of the Democratic
National Committee, and we met at the apart
 ment to discuss it. They were, of course, -
clamoring for a response from the
Committee
because of Mr.. McCord's involvement, etc ,
etc., and we had quite a gen.^_aL discussion
of the subject matter.



Mr. Dash. Do you recall any discussion of the
so-called either Gemstone files or wiretapping

files that you had in your possession?
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July 11, 1973:

Senato- Weicker. Did you suggest that any
documents be destroyed, not necessarily Ge..-
stone.

Mr. Mitchell. To the best of my recollection

Senator Weicker At the June 19 meeting at
your apartment?

Did you suggest that any documents be
destroyed, not necessarily Gemstone or no'
necessarily documents that relate to electronic
surveillance?

r Mr. Mitchell. To the best of my recollection
when I was there there was no such discussion

5. The underscored portions of the declarations

quoted in paragraph 4, made by JO-.iN N. MITCHELL, the

DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation

and study and, as he then and there well knew, were

false.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621.1
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COUNT SEVEN
_ _

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about July 30, 1973, in the District of

Columbia, HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the DEFENDANT, having duly

taken an oath before a competent tribunal, to wit, the

Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities, a duly

created and authorized Committee of the United States

Senate conducting official hearings and inquiring into a

matter in which a law of the United States authorizes an oath

to be administered, that he would testify truly, did

willfully, knowingly and contrary to such oath State

material matters hereinafter set forth which he did not

believe to be true.

2. At the time and place alleged, the said

Committee was conducting an investigation and study,

pur- - suant to the provisions of Senate Resolution 60

adopted by the United States Senate on February 7, 1973,

of the extent, if any, to which illegal, improper or

unethical activities were engaged in by any persons,

acting either individually or in combination with others, in

the presidential election of 1972, or in any related

campaign or canvass conducted by or in behalf of any

person seeking nomination or election as the candidate

of any political party for the office of President of the

United States in such election, for the purpose of

determining whether in its judgment any occurrences

which might be revealed by the investigation and study

indicated the necessity or desirability of the enactment

of new legislation to safeguard the electoral process by

which the President of the United States is chosen.
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3. It was material to the said investigation and

study that the said Committee ascertain the identity and

motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of

efforts to conceal, and to cause to be concealed,

information relating to (a) unlawful entries into, and

electronic surveillance of, the offices of the Democratic

National Committee located in the Watergate office

building in Washington, D. C. and (b) related activities,

through such means as the payment and promise of

payment of money and other things of value to

participants in these activities and to their families. 4.

At the time and place alleged, HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the

DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before

the said Committee, did willfully and knowingly

state with respect to the material matters alleged in

paragraph 3 as follows:

I was told several times, starting in the
summer of 1972, by John Dean and possibly
also by John Mitchell that there was a need
by the committee for funds to help take care
of the legal fees and family support of the
Watergate defendants. The committee
apparently felt obliged to do this.

* * *

Since all information regarding the
defense funds was given to me by John Dean,
the counsel to the President, and possibly by
John Mitchell, and since the arrangements for
Kalmbach's collecting funds and for transferrin-
~~g the $350,000 cash fund were made by John
Dean, and since John Dean never stated at the
time that the funds would be used for any other
than legal legal (sic) and proper purposes, I had
no reason to question the propriety or legality
of the process or delivering the S350,000 to the
committee via LaRue or of having Kalmbach
raise funds.
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I have no personal knowledge of
~~,what was done with the funds raised by
Kalmbach or with the 5350,000 that was
delivered by Strachan to LaRue.

It would appear that, at the White House at
least, John Dean was the only one who knew that
the funds were for "hush money", if, in fact,
that is what they were for. The rest of us
relied on Dean and all thought that what was
being done was legal and proper No one, to my
knowledge, was aware that these funds i..v5' ved

either blackmail or "hush money" until this
suggestion was raised in March of 1973

5. The underscored portion of- the statements

quoted in paragraph 4, made by HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the

DEFENDANT, was material to the said investigation

and study and, as he then and there well knew, was

false. (Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621.)
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COUNT EIGHT

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about July 30 and July 31, 1973, in the

District of Columbia, SPRY R. HALDEMAN, the DEFENDANT,

having duly taken an oath before a competent tribunal, to

wit, the Select Committee on Presidential Campaign

Activities, a duly created and authorized Committee of the

United States Senate conduct ng official hearings and

inquiring into a matter in which-a law of the United States s

administered, that he would testify truly, did willfully,

knowingly and contrary to such oath state material

matters hereinafter set forth which he did not believe to

be true. .

2. At the times and place alleged, the said

Committee was conducting an investigation and study,

pursuant to the provisions of Senate Resolution 60

adopted by the United States Senate on February 7, 1973,

of the
r

extent, if any, to which illegal, improper or unethical

activities were engaged in by any persons, acting either

individually or in combination with others, in the

presidential election of 1972, or in any related campaign

or canvass conducted by or in behalf of any person

seeking nomination or election as the candidate of any

political party for the office of President of the United

States in such election, for the purpose of determining

whether in its Judgment any occurrences which might be

revealed by the investigation and study indicated the

necessity or desirability of the enactment of new

legislation to safeguard the electoral process by which

the President of the United States is chosen.
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3. It was material to the said investigation and

study that the said Committee ascertain the identity

and motives of the individual or individuals who were

in, and had knowledge of

efforts to conceal, and to cause to be concealed,

information relating to (a) unlawful entries into, and

electronic surveillance of, the offices of the Democratic

National Committee located in the Watergate office

building in Washington, D. C., and (b) related activities,

through such means as the payment and promise of

payment of money and other things of value to

participants in these activities and to their families. 4.

At the times and place alleged, HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the

DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness under oath before

the said Committee,- did willfully and knowingly

state with respect to the material matters alleged in

paragraph 3 as follows:

July 30, 1973:

I was present for the final 40 minutes of
the President's meeting with John Dean on the
morning of March 21. Whilte (sic] I was not
present for the first hour of the meeting, I
did listen to the tape of the entire meeting.

Following is the substance of that
meeting to the best of my recollection.

* * *

He[Dean] also reported on a current Hunt
blackmail threat. He said Hunt was demanding
S120,000 or else he would tell about the seamy
things he had done for Ehrlichman. The
President pursued this in considerable detail,
obviously trying to smoke out what was really
going on. He led Dean on regarding the process
and what he would reco,~~.nend doing. He
asked such things as -- Well, this is the thing
you would recommend? we ought to do this? is
that
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right?" and he asked where the money would
come from? how it would be delivered? and so
on. He asked how much money would be involved
over the years and Dean said "probably a million
dollars -- but the problem is that it is hard to
raise." The President said "there is no problem in
raising a million dollars, we can do that, but it
would be -.-Jrong "

Senator Baker. . . . What I want to point out
to you is that ore state...-nt in your adden
seems to me to be o f extraordinary importance
and I want to test the accuracy of your
recollection and the quality of your note

taking from those tapes, and X am referring to
the last, next to the last, no, the third from
the last sentence on page 2, The President.
said there is no problem in raising a million
dollars. He can do that but it would be wrong

Now, if the period were to follow af ter We
can do that", it would be a most damning
statement. If, in fact, the tapes clearly
show he said "but it would be wrong, n it is an
entirely different context. Now, how sure
are you, Mr. Haldeman, that those tapes, in
fact say that?

Xr. Haldeman. I am absolutely positive
that the tapes

Senator Baker. Did you hear it with
your own voice?

Mr. Haldeman. With my own ears, yes.

Senator Baker. I mean with your own
ears. Was there any distortion in the quality
of the tape in that respect?

Mr. Haldeman. No, I do not believe
so.

*

Senator Ervin. Then the tape said that the
President said that there was no problem
raising a million dollars.

. ~~

Mr. Haldeman. Well, I should put that the way
it really came, Mr. Chairman, which was that
Dean said when the President said how much
money are you talking about here and Dean said



over a period of years probably a million dollars,
but it would be very hard -- it is very hard to
raise that money. And the President said.
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it is not hard to raise it. We can raise a
million dollars And then got into the cues-

. , .

tion or, in the one case before I came into

the meeting making a statement that it
would

be wrong and in other exploration of this
getting into the -- trying to find out what
Dean was talking about in terms of a million

__ ____ __ _... Can you point -- are you
familiar with the testimony Dean gave
about his conversations on the 13th and
the 21st of March with the President?

Mr. Haldeman. I am generally familiar
with it, yes, sir.

Senator Ervin. Well, this tape
corroborates virtually everything he said
except that he said that the President could
be -that the President said there would be
no difficulty about raising the money and
you say the only difference in the tape is
that the President also added that but that
would be wrong.

Mr. Haldeman. And there was considerable
other discussion about what you do, what
Dean would recommend, what should be
done, how -what this process is and this sort
of thing. It was a very -- there was
considerable exploration in the area.

5. The underscored portions of the statements

quoted in paragraph 4, made by HARRY R. HALDEMAN,
the

DEFENDANT, were material to the said investigation and

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621.)
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COUNT NINE

The Grand Jury further charges:

1. On or about August 1, 1973, in the District of

Columbia, HARRY R. HALDEMAN, the DEFENDANT, having

duly taken an oath before a competent tribunal, to wit,

the Select Co.committee on Presidential Campaign

Activities, a duly created and authorized Committee of

the United States Senate conducting official hearings

and inqu;-ing into a matter in which a law of the United

States authorizes an oath to be administered, that he

would testify truly, did willfully, knowingly and

contrary to such oath state material matters

hereinafter set forth which he did not believe to be

true.

2. At the tine and place alleged, the said

Committee was conducting an investigation and study,

pursuant to the provisions of Senate Resolution 60

adopted by the United States Senate on February 7, 1973,

of the extent, if any, to which illegal, improper or

unethical activities were engaged in by any persons,

acting either individually or in combination with others,

in the presidential election of 1972, or in any related

campaign or canvass conducted by or in behalf of any

person seeking nomination or election as the candidate of

any political party for the office of President of the

United States in such election, for the purpose of

determini..~~ ~~'.e'~~h-= in its judgment any occurrences

which might be revealed by the investigation and study

indicated the necessity or desirability of the enactment

of new legislation to safeguard the electoral process by

which the President of the United States is chosen.
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3. It was material to the said investigation and

study that the said Committee ascertain the identity and

motives of the individual or individuals who were

responsible for, participated in, and had knowledge of

efforts to conceal, and to cause to be concealed,

information relating to (a) unlawful entries into, and

electronic surveillance of, the offices of the Democratic

National Committee located in the Watergate office

buildings in Washington, D. C., and (b) related activities

through-such means as the commission of perjury and

subornation of perjury.

4. At the time and place alleged, HARRY R.

HALDEMAN, the DEFENDANT, appearing as a witness

under oath before the said Committee, did

willfully and knowingly state with respect to

the material matters alleged in paragraph 3 as

follows:

Senator Gurney. Let's turn to the March

21 meeting.

* * *

Senator Gurney. Do you recall any
discussion by Dean about Magruder's false
testimony before the Grand Jury?

Mr. Haldeman. There was a reference to his
feeling that Magruder had known about the
Watergate planning and break-in ahead of it, in
other words, that he was aware of what had
gone on at Watergate. I don't believe there was
any reference to Magruder co'

5. The underscored portion of the statements

quoted in paragraph 4, made by HARRY R. HALDEMAN,

the DEFENDANT, was material to the said

investigation and study and, as he then and there

well knew, was false Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1621 )
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COUNT TEN

The Grand Jury further charges: On or about July 21, 1973,

in the District of Columbia, JOEN D. EHRLICHMAN, the

DEFENDANT, did knowingly and willfully make false,

fictitious and fraudulent statements and representations

to agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,

Department of Justice, which Department was then

conducting an investigation into a matter within its

jurisdiction, namely, whether violations of 18 U.S.C. 371,

2511, and 22 D.C. Code 1801(b), and of other statutes of

the United States and the District of Columbia, had been

committed in the District of Columbia and elsewhere in

connection with the break-in at the Democratic National

Committee Headquarters at the Watergate office building

on June 17, 1972, and to identify the individual or

individuals who had committed, caused the commission

of,and conspired to commit such violations, in that he

stated that he had neither received nor was he in

possession of any information relative to the break-in at

the Democratic National Committee Headquarters on June

17, 1972, other than what he had read in the way of

newspaper accounts of that incident. (Title AS, United

States Code, Section 1001.)
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